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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good morning,

          3  everyone. I'm Council Member Yvette Clarke, Chair of

          4  the Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services.

          5                 I wanted to welcome you to today's

          6  hearing, which we'll do an oversight on discharge

          7  planning in community re-entry, as well as two

          8  resolutions; Resolution 263A on Medicaid and

          9  Resolution 283 on Employment Bars, and an unrelated

         10  Resolution 262 on Probation Funding.

         11                 I thought this would be a very

         12  important hearing for a number of reasons. I think

         13  that for many in the community recognizing that each

         14  year about 80,000 people go through our City's jails

         15  and return to our communities. These people have a

         16  host of social problems, 32 percent are illiterate,

         17  20 percent require detoxification, 30 percent lack

         18  housing. These problems must begin to be dealt with

         19  while in jail and when leaving jail. Historically,

         20  this has not been the case and as a result, 60

         21  percent of inmates are re- arrested within three

         22  years of their release.

         23                 We had initially talked about

         24  considering an Introduction 310. But we've had some

         25  discussions with the Department of Corrections and
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          2  there are a number of areas that we feel would

          3  improve that legislation. We won't be discussing

          4  that today in detail. This does not mean this will

          5  not be an area that will be legislating in, but

          6  we'll be dealing with better legislation as a result

          7  of the conversations we will be having with the

          8  Department of Correction. We plan to work with them

          9  over the summer to develop the best possible

         10  legislation. None the less today, we still

         11  appreciate any feedback the advocates have on the

         12  proposals in Intro 310.

         13                 Today, we will begin learning about

         14  the Department of Corrections efforts to improve

         15  discharge planning. I commend Commissioner Horn for

         16  his great work in this area. He's been a real

         17  catalyst for reform.

         18                 Let me turn now to Resolution 263A

         19  which calls upon the New York State Office of

         20  Temporary and Disability Assistance and the New York

         21  City Department of Social Services to return

         22  incarcerated individuals to Medicaid rolls

         23  immediately upon release from custody as is required

         24  under Federal law. There is so many challenges with

         25  respect to being able to access healthcare for a
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          2  merit of health concerns be it physical or mental

          3  health. Yet we find that currently individuals who

          4  are returning have a very difficult time accessing

          5  healthcare.

          6                 This is a grave concern to us and

          7  we'd like to have some discussion about how we can

          8  get this accomplished. We're in a modern society now

          9  when it would seem to me with the aid of technology,

         10  we can certainly have this achieved.

         11                 We will also be discussing today

         12  Resolution 283 which calls upon the New York State

         13  Legislature to ensure that people with convictions

         14  are not barred from certain jobs if there is no

         15  threat to public safety. Under New York law, ex-

         16  offenders are banned outright from some types of

         17  work. But for many other types of work restrictions

         18  are within the discretion of State agencies. In

         19  practice, however, State agencies treat

         20  discretionary restrictions as mandatory

         21  restrictions. The job bans exist for a surprising

         22  number and range of professions.

         23                 For example, even state licenses to

         24  barber are denied to ex- offenders despite the fact

         25  that inmates are trained for this profession in
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          2  State prison. Ex- offenders may also be denied a

          3  license to be a sanitation worker, cosmetologist,

          4  radiologist.

          5                 Finally, Resolution 262 which is a

          6  resolution we will be voting on today which calls

          7  upon the State to properly and fairly fund

          8  probation. New York City receives far less money for

          9  probation than other counties while having the

         10  largest number of probationers. We appeal to the

         11  State of New York to really look at the formula and

         12  adjust it accordingly.

         13                 I'm joined here by colleagues and

         14  members of this Committee. Starting to my extreme

         15  left with Council Member David Yassky of Brooklyn,

         16  Council Member Hiram Monserrate of Queens and

         17  Council Member Tony Avella of Queens. I'm also

         18  joined by my legislative director, Michael Schnall

         19  (phonetic) as well as Counsel to our Committee,

         20  Russell Unger, Michele Kalafer, our Policy Analyst.

         21  Having said that this morning, we should be engaging

         22  in what I hope to be very meaningful dialogue.

         23                 Our goal and our role here is to

         24  really move the practices of re- entry into our

         25  communities into a much more humane sophisticated

                                                            7

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  procedure. It is our hope that today through

          3  conversation and testimony, we will get to some of

          4  the key implementation tools that we can use to deal

          5  with this issue. We are going to start by voting on

          6  Resolution 262. Do we have the clerk here? I'm going

          7  to have Russell Unger, our Counsel to the Committee,

          8  take our committee's vote.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: On Resolution 262,

         10  Council Member Yassky?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         13  Monserrate?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Avella?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Clarke?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE. Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Four votes aye.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: At this time, I'd

         21  like to call Commissioner Martin Horn of the

         22  Correction and Probation Department for testimony.

         23                 Good morning, Commissioner.

         24                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Good morning. How

         25  are you?
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          2                 I want to begin by thanking the

          3  Committee for the support. I think these are good

          4  resolutions and we really appreciate the support

          5  that you are giving to our efforts in this regard.

          6                 Good morning, Chairwoman Clarke,

          7  members of the Committee. Last September, and again

          8  this winter, I testified before your Committee about

          9  our discharge planning initiative, and today I'd

         10  like to briefly update you on our efforts.

         11                 As you stated in your opening

         12  remarks, each year the Department of Corrections

         13  releases over 80,000 inmates back to our communities

         14  including 21,000 sentenced inmates. Over 60 percent

         15  of all those admitted are rearrested within three

         16  years of their discharge, some many times. The

         17  public safety, human and economic cost of this

         18  repetitive arrest and incarceration is not in

         19  anyone's interest. It is in all of our interests to

         20  break this cycle.

         21                 Our multi- agency discharge planning

         22  initiative, undertaken in partnership with

         23  Commissioner Linda Gibbs of the Department of

         24  Homeless Services, has brought together government

         25  and community to develop a coordinated approach to
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          2  re- entry. After six months, we have developed a

          3  cohesive core group with shared ownership of this

          4  effort. They are our collaborators and we welcome

          5  and rely on their advice and assistance. Most

          6  importantly, they share our belief that the problem

          7  of jail re- entry is bigger than any one of us alone

          8  can solve and that the solution will require the

          9  effort of all of us.

         10                 One of our key efforts is focused on

         11  what we call the heavy users of both the jail and

         12  the homeless systems. The Department of Corrections

         13  and the Department of Homeless Services have

         14  identified a significant shared population of

         15  individuals who cycle between the two systems. These

         16  are primarily low- level offenders. This group of

         17  individuals places a tremendous burden on our City's

         18  precious resources and presents an enormous

         19  challenge in addressing their complex social needs.

         20  Our goal is to find out what bring these people back

         21  into the system and see what services we can provide

         22  to keep them out of the shelters and out of jail.

         23                 What you see on the screen is an

         24  actual example of a single individual that we refer

         25  to as AP, who between 1998 and 2004 was admitted to
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          2  the Department of Homeless Service shelters 15 times

          3  and the Department of Correction 50 times. On an

          4  average, he was admitted to the jail every 43 days

          5  over a six year period. Most frequently for periods

          6  of under 20 days. You can see in the sort of

          7  brownish or taupe color, I guess, the DHS days and

          8  then the bluish color, are the DOC stays. There are

          9  numerous other examples of individuals. This is not

         10  an untypical case.

         11                 Another focus for the discharge

         12  planning group are the short-stayers. People who are

         13  only in the system for three days or less. These

         14  individuals can also be heavy users. If you look

         15  again at this chart, you'll see that this individual

         16  had stays as brief as one day, three days, four

         17  days, sometimes many brief stays. There is overlap

         18  between the short-stayers and the heavy users. They

         19  are often the same people.

         20                 Of the nearly 110,000 inmates

         21  admitted to our custody each year -- actually the

         22  110,000 admissions because what we find is that

         23  probably only about 60,000 individuals. But because

         24  they're admitted multiple times, it's really 110,000

         25  admissions. But of those 110,000 admissions to our
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          2  custody, over 25 percent result in stays of three

          3  days or less. And roughly 38 percent of these short

          4  stays are inmates who have been sentenced to us. In

          5  other words, people are serving sentences and

          6  getting out within three days. Stop and think about

          7  that for a minute. Think about the cost. Think about

          8  the public policy implication. Think about what

          9  public safety purpose is served by three days of

         10  imprisonment. These are often quality of life

         11  offenders and we keep seeing them again and again.

         12                 The Mayor has quite properly made it

         13  a priority to address these repetitive offenders

         14  with Operation Spotlight. We all agree that simply

         15  arresting and confining these individuals without

         16  intervening in their lives to forestall their

         17  subsequent arrest and confinement is shortsighted.

         18  There is an opportunity here to do something at the

         19  front end, to develop alternatives to short term

         20  incarceration that may prevent subsequent arrest.

         21  The cost of just the first day of their

         22  incarceration is at least $420. So reducing the

         23  number of short- stayers offers the opportunity to

         24  free up dollars for more productive public safety

         25  efforts.
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          2                 A related issue that we have chosen

          3  to pursue very aggressively is continuity of

          4  benefits. We believe it is appropriate that persons

          5  confined to jail not receive taxpayer financed

          6  benefits while confined. Indeed, it is contrary to

          7  federal regulations. But we equally believe that

          8  these benefits should be available to them again

          9  immediately upon release in order that they may

         10  obtain the medicine, food and support they need if

         11  they are to succeed. We've been studying this

         12  problem for several months and have concluded that

         13  it is a very complex issue, although the policy

         14  seems to be clear. But solving it would involve the

         15  City, the State and the Federal government.

         16                 There are limitations on what we can

         17  do imposed by the State Welfare Management System.

         18  But we have had conversations and will work with

         19  Commissioner Eggleston and our colleagues at HRA to

         20  see if we can effect change on the State level and

         21  what more can be done locally.

         22                 As we work on these and other

         23  systemic issues, the Rikers Island discharge

         24  planning program is up and running. I know you will

         25  have the opportunity to hear from a number of our
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          2  partners today and I have previously discussed these

          3  programs in detail. Let me say that the Center for

          4  Employment Opportunities Program is off to an

          5  excellent start in their first year of operation.

          6  The Osborne Association, Samaritan Village and

          7  Women's Prison Association are also in their first

          8  year of operation under their reconfigured

          9  contracts. Inmates are taking advantage of their

         10  programs and we are very optimistic.

         11                 We have provided Fortune Society

         12  space at the Visitor Control Building and are

         13  pleased to report that the number of inmates using

         14  their services continues to grow. We have seen a

         15  decrease in the numbers of inmates released to

         16  Queens Plaza as increasing numbers of inmates take

         17  advantage of the buses to services made available by

         18  these programs. And I am delighted at the degree of

         19  cooperation and collaboration that is emerging among

         20  all the community providers.

         21                 With the help of Vera's Project

         22  Greenlight, we are making operational changes to

         23  facilitate the discharge planning process. A new

         24  intake form has been developed to collect

         25  information about service needs at admission. This
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          2  will be provided to discharge planners initially as

          3  a paper process. Further, in order, to facilitate

          4  the work of all our partners, we have taken steps to

          5  eliminate one of the major impediments for those

          6  leaving jail and seeking employment, treating and

          7  housing the lack of appropriate personal

          8  documentation.

          9                 We have revised our property

         10  procedures to include information about

         11  identification. A CEO produced video shown at the

         12  visit house encourages family and visitors to look

         13  for and provide forms of identification. The New

         14  York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene is

         15  now providing birth certificate verification and

         16  copies of certificates upon release. And we are

         17  finalizing an agreement with the Social Security

         18  Administration to obtain verification of social

         19  security numbers and other assistance. These are

         20  just some of the things we are doing to make

         21  discharge planning work.

         22                 But all of these efforts, however,

         23  promising are still in their infant stages. We are

         24  on new ground and are still figuring out what is

         25  needed and what works. What we have learned is that
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          2  this is difficult and complicated work. While the

          3  Department of Correction is committed to it, we

          4  can't do it alone. DOC has neither the expertise nor

          5  the resources to do this alone. Our primary mission

          6  is and always will be to confine offenders and

          7  defendants securely and safely and to get them to

          8  court on time. Nonetheless, we recognize the

          9  importance of this work and seek to facilitate the

         10  work of the people who can do it.

         11                 We are fortunate to have in New York

         12  so many good talented people with passion and skill

         13  for this effort as our partners. We appreciate the

         14  support the Council and your Committee in particular

         15  has always given to this work and look forward to

         16  continuing to work with you on these efforts in the

         17  future. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Commissioner, in

         19  your experience thus far with discharge planning, we

         20  really have to congratulate you. This has been an

         21  ongoing issue for many, many, many years. Probably

         22  for more than I even really know. But you have

         23  really been innovative in your approach to dealing

         24  with a concern that has really been a challenge for

         25  many communities throughout the City and have taken
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          2  a look through new lenses of really addressing the

          3  issue of re- entry to our communities from a much

          4  more comprehensive and holistic way.

          5                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And so for that,

          7  we're truly grateful.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'd like to ask,

         10  what are the most important types of discharge

         11  services for inmates to receive in your estimation?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HORN: There are so many.

         13  I think that in approaching this, we ought not

         14  believe that we can fix every problem that every

         15  inmate brings. I think to try to do so would be

         16  damaging to our effort. I think there are in my

         17  estimation three issues that we have to focus on if

         18  an inmate or any individual upon release from jail

         19  is going to stay out of jail in the future. The

         20  first of these has to be sobriety. We know that an

         21  overwhelming number of the individuals, inmates,

         22  defendants who come through our jails are dealing

         23  with addictions to alcohol and other drugs. If we

         24  don't deal with sobriety -- if they don't deal with

         25  sobriety, if they cannot remain sober, they will
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          2  fail. In my experience, after 35 years, if an

          3  individual cannot remain sober, they will eventually

          4  fail. They are some exceptions, certainly. But it is

          5  so primary as far as I'm concerned. That means we

          6  have to focus on keeping our jail -- we have to set

          7  as a goal that when an individual leaves our jail,

          8  that they're drug free. And that is a goal we have

          9  not yet achieved. So, they have to be sober. While

         10  they're in jail, we have to equip them with the

         11  tools to remain sober. When they get out of jail, we

         12  have to connect them with the services that can help

         13  them to remain sober. Sobriety is primary.

         14                 In New York City and I think our

         15  situation may be different from other jurisdictions.

         16  I've talked to colleagues around the country.

         17  Housing is a critical issue. There is a crisis of

         18  affordable housing in New York City. Everyone knows

         19  it. It is no secret. That impacts the individuals

         20  who leave our jails. I think we see this. We know

         21  for a fact that we have on any given day between DOC

         22  and DHS, there is 3,000 people who are just pinging

         23  back and forth between the two systems. There is a

         24  large shared population of homeless people. They may

         25  well have other problems. They may have mental
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          2  health problems. They probably have problems with

          3  addiction and alcoholism as well. But the issue of

          4  housing, I think, is central.

          5                 A person who doesn't have a safe

          6  place to live is going to have difficulty remaining

          7  sober. These issues are intertwined. Because their

          8  inability to remain sober can affect their ability

          9  to maintain a place to live. But if they don't have

         10  a place to live, they're not going to be able to

         11  work, to find work, to sustain work.

         12                 And then finally, they need

         13  employment. They need a legitimate and nobly,

         14  redemptive way of supporting themselves that is not

         15  destructive of the human spirit as public assistance

         16  is. We've looked at things needs assessment. It's

         17  big in the business of correction and probation. I

         18  was talking to one of my staff on the probation side

         19  last week. We were talking about a needs assessment

         20  that assess the inmates need for love. Well, that

         21  may well be. Because there's not much we can do

         22  about that. I think if we attend to sobriety,

         23  housing and employment, I'd say we've done quite a

         24  bit. I think that's where we should focus our

         25  efforts.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What about issues

          3  of the family? Again, it gets mushy. But a lot of

          4  the, I guess, concern from a community perspective,

          5  you're letting them out and we're receiving them. To

          6  a large extent, there's the disconnect from the

          7  family and perhaps some issues with respect to

          8  family court. Has there been any connection since

          9  you wear two hats or observations from the probation

         10  side that lends one to looking at perhaps that

         11  reconnection issue? And how the family can be used

         12  as a support system in terms of addressing the

         13  sobriety, the housing, the employment concerns.

         14                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Right. I think

         15  clearly we recognize that the family is the primary

         16  unit of our social structure. Every inmate by and

         17  large, there are some exceptions, has family. Often

         18  those families can be supportive and are a source of

         19  strength that need to be capitalized. Occasionally,

         20  the families themselves are dysfunctional. In

         21  probation, one of the most exciting things we've

         22  done, especially on the juvenile side where we think

         23  there are tremendous opportunities is a program that

         24  we call Espondrza (phonetic) which is designed to

         25  identify juveniles who would otherwise be committed
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          2  to the State Office of Children and Family Services

          3  at a combined cost to City and State of $150,000

          4  shared between the two agencies. And historically,

          5  children who have been committed to OCFS remain with

          6  them for under 15 months and 81 percent of them are

          7  arrested again within the first year. It's just a

          8  tremendous failure in citizen rate.

          9                 What Espondrza seeks to do is working

         10  with the family, working with the school, working

         11  with the community, utilizing some of the most

         12  recent thinking in family systems therapy, to keep

         13  the child in the home, in the community, in the

         14  City, in school at far less cost. Just last week we

         15  attended a graduation of, I think, 26 of the first

         16  100 youngsters who have been diverted from State

         17  custody as a result of that program with their

         18  families and their parents in attendance. Frankly,

         19  we think there are substantial opportunities here

         20  for the City to be smart and both save money and

         21  obtain better outcomes by relying on families to

         22  especially intervene in the lives of juvenile

         23  delinquents.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let me just

         25  acknowledge that we've been joined by Council Member
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          2  Tracy Boyland of Brooklyn, member of this Committee.

          3  And I know that Council Member Yassky has a

          4  question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

          6  Chair Clarke. Good morning, Commissioner.

          7                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Mr. Yassky.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: A couple of

          9  things in your testimony struck me. One was on

         10  documents and, of course, if folks upon release

         11  don't have what would be needed to complete an I9

         12  form, they're certainly not employable as you know.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I commend you

         15  working with CEO, I guess, to kind of encourage

         16  family members to look for documents.

         17                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Is that part

         19  of a check list that your own folks have that people

         20  prior to release you want to make sure they have

         21  their documents so that a birth certificate, social

         22  security card, if they have a driver's license, then

         23  they don't need a birth certificate, I guess. That

         24  they have at least whatever they would need for the

         25  I9 and then that they use the time they are with you
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          2  to get documents that they're missing?

          3                 COMMISSIONER HORN: That's exactly

          4  what we're doing. We reached a conclusion that and

          5  I'd like to say that the one thing we know about all

          6  of the inmates who enter our jails is that they all

          7  leave. And they all leave pretty fast. PDQ. We can't

          8  wait until they're getting out to start worrying

          9  about whether they have the necessary documents. So,

         10  what we've begun to do, we've developed a form in

         11  consultation with our Discharge Planning Partners

         12  that basically takes an inventory as every inmate is

         13  committed to our custody at the time of arraignment.

         14  Er respect of whether they're sentenced, whether

         15  they're being held on $200 bail or $10,000 bail, we

         16  ask a series of questions and among those are, do

         17  you have social security card? Do you have it on

         18  your person? If you don't have it on your person,

         19  where is it? And then for those who it, we inventory

         20  it. We know where it is. We receipt it so that they

         21  can have it upon release. For those who don't, we

         22  immediately can begin the process working through

         23  their family, whatever, to get it. We're providing

         24  drop boxes so family members can drop them when they

         25  come to visit. We'll accept faxes. As I said, we're
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          2  working with Social Security Administration so that

          3  we can obtain duplicates for individuals who have

          4  lost theirs.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes, that's

          6  what I was talking about. Your testimony speaks of

          7  an agreement with Social Security --

          8                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: -- To verify,

         10  confirm. Will you also be able to get cards for

         11  folks who are in your custody?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Again, if a person

         13  stays with us for three days, probably not.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But somebody

         15  who is with you for four months?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Probably, more

         17  likely for those individuals, yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What are the

         19  impediments? I mean, why wouldn't you be able to?

         20                 COMMISSIONER HORN: We haven't

         21  concluded the memorandum agreement with Social

         22  Security Administration yet.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But it

         24  provides not just for confirming, but for issuing of

         25  duplicates.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Upon release, the

          3  inmate could obtain it, yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What do you

          5  mean upon release an inmate could obtain it?

          6                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Inmates don't

          7  carry it while they're confined. So, they can get it

          8  at the time of release.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. But they

         10  would get it when they're on release. If not then,

         11  they would have to go to Social Security?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HORN: It all depends on

         13  what the procedures are. What the Social Security

         14  Administration requires in terms of somebody

         15  physically showing up or whether a third party can

         16  obtain it on an individual's behalf.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Are they

         18  willing to work with you so that you can have the

         19  card for them on release?

         20                 COMMISSIONER HORN: We found that

         21  they're very forthcoming. They have rules and

         22  concerns in this post 9/11 world about who they give

         23  identification to.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Sure.

         25                 COMMISSIONER HORN: And we have to

                                                            25

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  work all of those issues through.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You don't know

          4  yet whether you're going to be able to give people

          5  card upon release or not.

          6                 COMMISSIONER HORN: I'm not prepared

          7  to say definitively one way or the other.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: It just

          9  strikes me as a basic -- it's hard enough for people

         10  who are organized to kind of navigate to get all the

         11  documentation. I think to the extent you can release

         12  people with everything that they need just

         13  documentation wise to get a job, then we're taking a

         14  big step forward.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Our goal is to be

         16  as helpful as we can.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I have great

         18  admiration for the partners you're working with in

         19  trying to maximize the employability of your

         20  releasees. I know that you release folks to then

         21  work with your various partners upon discharge. Do

         22  what extent do they work with people who are still

         23  in your custody in the month or two months prior?

         24  Folks like Osborne or CEO.

         25                 COMMISSIONER HORN: That's exactly
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          2  what happens. We've provided them -- first of all,

          3  we've changed the nature of our contracts with them.

          4  They meet with the inmates while they are confined

          5  to assess their needs and develop a discharge plans

          6  and then are obligated to continue working with the

          7  individual upon release. In fact, the greatest

          8  financial reward is the contract because these are

          9  performance based contracts result not from the work

         10  that they do while the inmate is confined, but they

         11  result from the efforts that they make and successes

         12  that they have in placing the inmates following

         13  their release. So, they are rewarded for the more

         14  people that they actually succeed in placing. But

         15  they begin the work with the individual while the

         16  inmate is in jail.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What percent

         18  of people that are in your custody for two months or

         19  more, four, pick whatever date is a meaningful one,

         20  whatever time you agree on, what percentage of those

         21  folks have worked with one of your partners prior to

         22  release? Is it two percent, 60 percent?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HORN: I couldn't put a

         24  number on it right now. Whatever it is, we're not

         25  even close to 100 percent.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Ten percent?

          3                 COMMISSIONER HORN: I don't know.

          4  We'll try and get back to you on that. But the point

          5  is, there is still a great unmet need.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Chair Clarke,

          7  thank you very much. I have another hearing across

          8  the street. So, I'm going to excuse myself. I'm

          9  going to miss their testimony that I think that the

         10  work that's being done by the nonprofit folks that

         11  you're going to hear from is just extraordinary. And

         12  I know has been supported by the Department and

         13  supported certainly by the Council. I think that's

         14  to the credit of the Department and the Council. I

         15  hope that support will continue and indeed expand.

         16  Thank you, Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

         18  Council Member Yassky. Do you have a question? Let

         19  me just finish questioning the Commissioner and then

         20  we'll call that. This effort of discharge planning

         21  is six months in you would estimate about?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HORN: We've been working

         23  on it, actually it's probably at this point, we've

         24  been working on it closer to nine months.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Close to nine
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          2  months. Have you had an opportunity to establish a

          3  time line for the various components of the

          4  discharge planning effort?

          5                 COMMISSIONER HORN: As a matter of

          6  fact we do. We have something that's called a Gant

          7  Chart (phonetic) that lays out. It actually breaks

          8  each of the major initiatives down into a series of

          9  sub- routines or subsidiary efforts that have to

         10  take place. And different aspects of it have

         11  different time lines. They require different kinds

         12  of efforts. For example, the issue of continuity of

         13  benefits is an ongoing one. It's difficult to put a

         14  time line on it. Commissioner Gibbs and I have

         15  committed ourselves to working with Commissioner

         16  Eggleston with the State and with whoever else is

         17  involved to obtain a better system for reinstating

         18  benefits immediately upon release.

         19                 The collection of data is imminent.

         20  It's going to begin really as soon as we can

         21  finalize internal department procedures and print up

         22  forms. We've actually already begun to train staff

         23  in that effort. The development of plan to deal with

         24  the so called heavy users is actually already

         25  underway. We are excited about the prospects of at
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          2  least piloting something with respect to that

          3  population.

          4                 The short-stayers, I think, are a

          5  much more difficult and long- term public policy

          6  matter that we do not have within our hands to

          7  resolve. But we're committed to raising the question

          8  and suggesting solutions. But the ultimate solution

          9  to it, I think, will require not only money, but it

         10  will require new thinking and new approaches among

         11  the defense bar, prosecutors and the judiciary.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You sort of hit

         13  on what I was thinking in terms of the short-

         14  stayers that perhaps we need to sort of back track

         15  down the chain of even prior of them going into your

         16  custody what happens in that part of the process.

         17  Have you set up in addition to the practical

         18  application of the various pieces of support for the

         19  inmate a way of evaluating and sort of analyzing the

         20  process almost simultaneously? The reason I ask that

         21  is because we'd like an opportunity to really be

         22  able to establish where the pressure points need to

         23  be for funding and things of that nature. I have a

         24  lot of hope in the success of this process, quite

         25  frankly. To the extent that we can get a good
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          2  picture of it and then perhaps approach the State

          3  with some real recommendations for areas where

          4  funding may not have been maximized in the past. For

          5  the data we've been able to establish, we can say

          6  that perhaps refocusing our efforts in this

          7  particular area with adequate funding will save us

          8  in the long run. Is that part of the process right

          9  now?

         10                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Commissioner Gibbs

         11  and I have discussed the matter of evaluation. We

         12  both agree that we have to evaluate our efforts.

         13  Each of the efforts will have a different evaluated

         14  criteria. Clearly, one will be to take a look at

         15  whether or not we have affected the number of people

         16  in the heavy user category. I think that any

         17  meaningful assessment of that will take several

         18  years. I don't think that you're going to see

         19  anything dramatic in the first year or two. It's a

         20  big problem that has been developing over time.

         21                 It's going to be very difficult,

         22  again -- but that will be easy one. Because you'll

         23  be able to say, well did fewer people have fewer

         24  stays in either corrections or homeless or both.

         25  That's easier. One of the things that we are doing
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          2  is reflecting a lot of data with respect to the

          3  people who are benefiting from the Rikers Island

          4  Discharge Enhancement Program because these are

          5  performance based contracts. We will know how many

          6  people actually received services, received jobs as

          7  a result. And we will be able to look back and see

          8  whether or not their experience after having been

          9  incarcerated has changed. Whether individuals who

         10  receive these services come back to jail with less

         11  frequency than others.

         12                 It is a difficult thing for us to do.

         13  The Department of Corrections does not have a big

         14  evaluation and research component. We will look for

         15  other ways to support the evaluation.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Perhaps one of

         17  the partners you're working with or maybe an

         18  academic institution --

         19                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: -- Could be

         21  brought into the process.

         22                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Right. But

         23  somebody has to pay the bill.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: That's true. I

         25  know how creative you are, Commissioner.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HORN: I know how

          3  generous you are.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You touched upon

          5  the Espondrza program. I wanted to ask if the plans

          6  that are currently being made will address the

          7  discharge planning for Rikers Island adolescent

          8  population?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Espondrza is

         10  separate and apart from that. At the present time,

         11  we have the Women's Prisoner Association which is

         12  working with the female sentence population. Osborne

         13  and Samaritan are working with the adult male

         14  sentence population. We do not have any of our

         15  current vendors working with the adolescent men or

         16  women. That is as yet an unmet need and something

         17  that we would like to address.

         18                 However, one of the concerns that we

         19  have is that it may well be that the issues that

         20  adolescents face upon release is different or are

         21  different than the issues faced by adults. Clearly

         22  the issue of work may well be different because

         23  return to school. Reconnection to school may be the

         24  focus of the effort and the right school. The family

         25  clearly is more likely to be a prominent factor in
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          2  the re- entry of an adolescent. I think one of the

          3  first things that we have do is -- there is nothing

          4  really in the literature that tells us much about

          5  the re- entry experience of adolescents and so I

          6  think we have to study it a little bit more first.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Commissioner, I'd

          8  like to talk to you a little bit about the Medicaid

          9  enrollment challenges. What types of medical

         10  problems do inmates in City jails commonly face?

         11                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Well, inmates who

         12  come through our jails often have not been a fitted

         13  from a lot of contact with the healthcare system

         14  before coming to jail. Often times, the physical and

         15  medical examination that they receive in jail is the

         16  first one that they have received. That is also

         17  quite frequently true of their dental examination.

         18  We also know that upwards of 20 percent of our

         19  population comes to us with mental health problems

         20  and we know that 70 or 80 percent of our inmates

         21  have dependency on alcohol and other drugs.

         22                 Our inmates disproportionally present

         23  with Hepatitis C, HIV. We do a very good job

         24  controlling TB. But we actually identify a fair

         25  number of cases of tuberculosis that need treatment.
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          2  There are a lot of high blood pressure. Lot of

          3  diabetes in this population. Lot of chronic heart

          4  disease in this population. And as I say, 20 percent

          5  who probably need continuing treatment to deal with

          6  the mental illness.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BOYLAND: And how

          8  important is it to have continuity of treatment for

          9  these kind of medical problems?

         10                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Well, it's

         11  critically important. We try to give inmates a

         12  supply of prescription meds upon release to carry

         13  them over. But if they cannot enroll in Medicaid

         14  immediately upon release, they're ability to obtain

         15  medication doesn't exist. To the extent that their

         16  behavior is driven by their mental illness, that may

         17  well account for a large number of the short-

         18  stayers and heavy users. We think that is very

         19  central to their ability to stay out. Their ability

         20  to access drug and alcohol treatment is dependent

         21  upon their ability to access Medicaid.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Could you give us

         23  a sense of the federal rules regarding the provision

         24  of Medicaid to inmates in correctional facilities?

         25                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Let me begin by
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          2  saying that I'm not an expert on this subject. But

          3  as we've studied it and as I've said in my

          4  testimony, there's a very clear public policy that

          5  has been expressed by the Department of Health and

          6  Human Services that individuals not receive benefits

          7  while confined. I think everyone agrees with the

          8  appropriateness of that policy. But I think it is

          9  equally clear that public policy, federal policy

         10  calls for a person to have access to services when

         11  and as they are eligible and to the extent that they

         12  become eligible on the day they are released, they

         13  must have access to those services. I think a lot of

         14  this is sort of driven by the mechanical

         15  bureaucratic system that have been set up.

         16                 We've looked at the whole issue of

         17  suspension and reinstatement and whether or not the

         18  computer system called the Welfare Management System

         19  can adjust to it. There may well be other solutions

         20  and conversations with HRA. It may be that there is

         21  a possibility of creating presumptive eligibility.

         22  Giving people temporary cards that would allow them

         23  to access services while the reactivation of their

         24  services is pending. It's clear that federal policy

         25  does not require that there be a continuing delay.
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          2  Post release and in fact, I think federal policy

          3  looks favorably upon the immediate reinstatement.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: In 2001, the

          5  United States Secretary of Health and Human

          6  Services, Tommy Thompson wrote that unless a State

          7  determines that an individual is no longer eligible

          8  for Medicaid, states must ensure that incarcerated

          9  individuals are returned to the Medicaid eligibility

         10  rolls immediately upon release. Could you explain

         11  your interpretation of what the Secretary is stating

         12  currently all eligible inmates in New York City

         13  return to Medicaid rolls immediately upon release

         14  from the City's correctional facilities? Right. Are

         15  they currently?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HORN: I'm not sure I

         17  understood the question.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, the

         19  Secretary of Health has stated that all incarcerated

         20  individuals should be returned to Medicaid

         21  eligibility rolls immediately or must ensure that

         22  they are returned to Medicaid eligibility rolls

         23  immediately upon release. Are we currently doing

         24  that?

         25                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Well, we don't do
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          2  it. It's not our response -- it's not our

          3  jurisdiction. It's not a matter of not our

          4  responsibility, we have no authority over it. But it

          5  is anecdotally, I would say that my observation that

          6  it is not happening.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are you aware

          8  whether eligible inmates who return to New York City

          9  from a State facility are returned to Medicaid rolls

         10  immediately upon release from the State Correctional

         11  Facility?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Again, anecdotally

         13  based on experience, it is my experience that it

         14  isn't. Certainly not with the immediacy that

         15  Secretary Thompson's letter envisions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. So, how do

         17  we make the connection? That's the critical piece.

         18  The Secretary has not given specific instruction as

         19  to who's role it is.

         20                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What would you

         22  say so that we can be in compliance with the best

         23  way of approaching it?

         24                 COMMISSIONER HORN: I think that is a

         25  question that is best answered by Commissioner
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          2  Eggleston and the State officials who administer the

          3  Medicaid system. I think that the first requirement,

          4  however, is that all the involved parties adopt as a

          5  policy priority the goal of achieving it. I think

          6  that has yet to be accomplished. I think that is

          7  what Commissioner Gibbs and I are hoping to raise

          8  with our colleagues at HRA at a State level.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I think that's

         10  critical. Here it is 2001 this was stated and we're

         11  in 2004 now. Certainly, I know that you're

         12  establishing this collaborative effort. If there is

         13  anything that certainly this Committee can do to

         14  make sure the dialogue is flowing and that we can

         15  move to accomplish this through whatever mechanisms

         16  suitable, we'd love to be of assistance of getting

         17  that done.

         18                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Thank you. I think

         19  the proposed resolution will help draw attention to

         20  the matter.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         22  much. Commissioner, thank you for your candid

         23  responses here today and we look forward to further

         24  conversation moving forward with respect to

         25  community re- entry. Thank you for the work that
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          2  you're doing in Discharge Planning.

          3                 COMMISSIONER HORN: Thank you, ma'am.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: At this time,

          5  we're just going to call the roll so that Council

          6  Member Boyland can vote on Resolution 262.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I vote aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: The resolution is

         10  adopted by a vote of five in the affirmative, zero

         11  in the negative with zero abstentions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARK: We will now hear

         13  from a number of our advocates who have really built

         14  up an expertise in this area. We're going to start

         15  with a panel of individuals from the various

         16  organizations. I'd like to call at this time Marta

         17  Nelson of the Vera Institute of Justice; Richard Cho

         18  of the Corporation for Supportive Housing; Mindy

         19  Tarlow from the Center for Employment Opportunities;

         20  and Glenn Martin of the Legal Action Center.

         21                 I want to say welcome to all and

         22  thank you for coming to this very important hearing.

         23  As I stressed many times, this is in an area that

         24  we're extremely interested in having addressed and

         25  certainly Commissioner Horn has been instrumental in
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          2  really taking this challenge to the next level. I've

          3  yet to see in my tenure here a Commissioner of

          4  Corrections that is really gone what I would say the

          5  extra mile in terms of expanding and reaching

          6  towards addressing the issue of community re- entry.

          7                 Many of us are aware of the practices

          8  of dropping inmates off in the middle of Queens or

          9  Harlem with a metro card and saying go for yours.

         10  And how devastating that practice has been

         11  historically. So, I want to thank you for bringing

         12  your expertise to bear in this process and ask that

         13  you just state your name and affiliation before you

         14  begin your testimony.

         15                 MS. NELSON: I'm Marta Nelson. I'm

         16  with Project Greenlight of the Vera Institute.

         17  Should I go first? Okay. The Vera Institute is a

         18  private nonprofit organization that works in

         19  collaboration with public officials around the world

         20  to improve the services that individuals rely on for

         21  safety and justice. Project Greenlight is a project

         22  of the Vera Institute. We've been working with the

         23  Department of Correction and the Center for

         24  Employment Opportunities or CEO since last July to

         25  introduce discharge planning into the City jail
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          2  system at the time of intake.

          3                 I'm going to briefly describe two

          4  systems that we're working with DOC on that are

          5  rather central to this effort that you heard

          6  Commissioner Horn describe. The first is the system

          7  to gather information about people's needs and their

          8  interests in services after release. Vera and DOC

          9  together created a discharge planning questionnaire.

         10  We gave it to the other service providers for their

         11  input and then piloted this form in the jails in

         12  this fall. Based on that pilot, we made changes to

         13  the form, conducted training on the form and this

         14  new questionnaire which will ask people about their

         15  needs and interests in areas such as housing,

         16  employment and substance abuse and treatment will be

         17  rolled out in the jails beginning this summer over a

         18  period of months. Vera will be there to see how the

         19  roll out is going, to see what kind of issues arise

         20  and to work the department to make any adjustments

         21  as needed.

         22                 The second system that we've been

         23  working with CEO and the Department on is this whole

         24  issue of identification that you've been hearing

         25  about. The first step in working with someone on
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          2  identification is to find out whether they have it

          3  when they come in. We've worked with the Department

          4  to change their processing system so that people are

          5  asked to show what ID they have and that can be

          6  inventoried so that the Department then works with

          7  people who do not have ID on getting that ID And

          8  with the people who do have it, it serves as a

          9  record that they have that ID with them in the jail.

         10  We created this new form. We worked with the

         11  Department to pilot it. Again, made adjustments

         12  based on the pilot period and that new procedure is

         13  being rolled this summer.

         14                 In terms of the second part of that,

         15  what to do if people do not have ID. I know there

         16  were a number of questions for the Commissioner on

         17  that. And he answered them. But just to iterate,

         18  there is a new procedure in place with New York City

         19  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene to get

         20  verification of birth certificates for people who

         21  were born in the five boroughs. That's a very fast

         22  system. That's what makes it particularly

         23  impressive. It is based on a faxing information back

         24  and forth so it can happen quickly.

         25                 There is also as you heard an
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          2  agreement that's near finalization with the Social

          3  Security Administration to both do verification of

          4  numbers for people who are engaged in discharge

          5  planning. And that again is a very fast system of

          6  faxing back and forth. Part of that agreement,

          7  working on getting actual cards for people who are

          8  in the system for a longer period of time. To

          9  address concerns about whether or not there will be

         10  cards, there will be cards. They just can't go to

         11  the inmates while they are in jail for obvious

         12  security reasons. The Department and the Social

         13  Security Administration are still figuring out the

         14  mechanics of who will the cards be mailed to and who

         15  will hold them. That's still being worked out. But

         16  the agreement does contemplate both faxed immediate

         17  information and actual cards for people who are

         18  there longer.

         19                 I just want to conclude by saying

         20  that working with the Department over the year that

         21  we've been very impressed by the level of

         22  professionalism and dedication from the DOC staff

         23  and from the Discharge Planner Staff. And

         24  particularly for the Uniform Intake Staff who have

         25  had to adjust their duties to bring in these new
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          2  elements and have really risen to the occasion and

          3  have understood the purpose of it and how it fits in

          4  with doing right for the people coming through the

          5  system. I really want to commend the efforts of the

          6  staff, particularly the uniform staff. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you as

          8  well. We're going to probably ask questions at the

          9  end of your testimony. But I also want to bring to

         10  your attention, we have a number of people scheduled

         11  to testify, we're going to ask the Sergeant to give

         12  you all three minutes to do your testimony.

         13                 MR. CHO: Good morning Chairperson

         14  Clarke and other members of the Committee. My name

         15  is Richard Cho. I'm a Program Officer with the

         16  Corporation for Supportive Housing which is a

         17  national nonprofit intermediary whose mission is to

         18  help communities create permanent supportive housing

         19  with services to prevent and end homelessness

         20  including among people who are leaving correctional

         21  institutions.

         22                 I'm testifying today under two hats.

         23  The first is as an advocate as the Chair of the Re-

         24  entry Housing Roundtable which is a coalition of 30

         25  nonprofit organizations, housing and services
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          2  providers, advocates and other experts who come

          3  together to advocate for the expansion of housing

          4  and housing based services for people who are

          5  leaving incarceration.

          6                 The second is as a participant of the

          7  City Department of Corrections and the Department of

          8  Homeless Services Discharge Planning Initiative.

          9  I've been helping that initiative shape their

         10  ongoing effort particularly around creating program

         11  models for the most high need population of people

         12  leaving City jails.

         13                 I want to thank you for scheduling

         14  this hearing and for allowing me to testify and I

         15  want to also call your attention to one of our

         16  members from common ground community who is a member

         17  of a roundtable who will also be submitting

         18  testimony on behalf of the roundtable.

         19                 I want to commend you for your

         20  commitment to the needs of people leaving City jails

         21  and returning to our communities in New York City. I

         22  think the resolutions you are introducing are timely

         23  and I think there is time to do something around

         24  prisoner and jail re- entry is now. And we applaud

         25  you for taking the initiative to do something.
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          2                 I want to convey our support for the

          3  collaboration that's taking place between the

          4  Department of Correction and Department of Homeless

          5  Services about which you have already heard a little

          6  today. I want to emphasize for you how unique and

          7  rare this initiative is. Not only because it will

          8  lead to some real concrete changes, but also because

          9  the way the Commissioner decided to proceed with

         10  this.

         11                 Unlike so much of public policy that

         12  takes place in a vacuum, Commissioner Horn and

         13  Commissioner Gibbs initiative is unique because it

         14  involves so many perspectives from the nonprofit

         15  community, from social service providers and from

         16  advocates who have real life experience in providing

         17  services and housing to formerly incarcerated

         18  people. Nine of the member organizations of the re-

         19  entry housing roundtable were brought in as full

         20  participants in shaping this effort. The

         21  recommendations that emerged were not the result of

         22  sort of usual bureaucratic policy making. But were

         23  lofty in the vision and the advocacy of the provider

         24  community as well as grounded in their practicality

         25  and their expertise.
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          2                 As a member of that advocacy and

          3  provider community, I urge the City Council to be at

          4  least as inclusive as the City agencies have been in

          5  shaping your legislation regarding discharge

          6  planning. There is a lot of work that the

          7  Commissioner along with the host officials,

          8  providers and advocates are doing to improve

          9  discharge planning. We, the providers and advocates

         10  who have been involved feel a sense of ownership

         11  over these efforts. I would urge you to work in

         12  coordination with these efforts in shaping your

         13  legislative work.

         14                 In particular, there is one

         15  initiative that's being pursued that comes directly

         16  out of the advocacy and expertise of the re- entry

         17  housing roundtable and that's the initiative that's

         18  focused on the highest need group of people

         19  incarcerated at Rikers Island. A group we're calling

         20  the heavy users. That's approximately 3,600 people

         21  who cycle regularly and frequently between jails and

         22  shelters.

         23                 We hope that whatever legislative

         24  effort that you propose will not stand in the way of

         25  this efforts focused on this high need population.
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          2  We're in principal, of course, in support of any

          3  legislation that addresses the discharge planning,

          4  employment and housing needs of people leaving City

          5  jails. I just would ask that you at this opportune

          6  moment would look to the City officials, the

          7  community providers and the advocates to help you in

          8  shaping those efforts.

          9                 MS. TARLOW: Good morning, Chairperson

         10  Clarke and members of the Committee. My name is

         11  Mindy Tarlow and I'm the Executive Director of the

         12  Center for Employment Opportunities or CEO.

         13                 CEO provides employment services for

         14  former inmates and others under community

         15  supervision. We intervene immediately after release

         16  and offer short term paid work experience, pre-

         17  employment training, and job development services,

         18  all leading to full time unsubsidized employment.

         19                 In the summer of 2003, CEO was asked

         20  to be part of the City's response to the needs of

         21  sentenced inmates being released from Rikers Island.

         22  CEO was asked to develop a three- year demonstration

         23  project that, when fully operational, would offer

         24  immediate employment services to 5,000 sentenced

         25  inmates a year. The Criminal Justice Coordinator,
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          2  the Department of Correction, the Department of

          3  Small Business Services and the Economic

          4  Developmental Corporation joined together in a

          5  unique partnership to support what we call the

          6  Rikers Island Employment Re- entry Initiative. This

          7  is how it works.

          8                 Each day, a team of CEO staff, led by

          9  Project Director Tim Williams, recruits inmates that

         10  are interested in working upon their release. CEO

         11  then works with inmates and their families as you've

         12  heard, to collect all the documents necessary for

         13  them to begin work. The Vera Institute of Justice

         14  has been our key partner in this document collection

         15  effort. Once processed, all enrolled inmates are met

         16  by CEO on their day of release and taken by bus

         17  directly to a work site where they immediately begin

         18  to earn wages and build work skills. CEO staff

         19  provides orientation and coaching as clients begin

         20  their work assignments.

         21                 At the end of the day, each client

         22  receives a daily paycheck for minimum wage and a

         23  work assignment for the following day. All clients

         24  are eligible for up to six weeks of this type of

         25  paid, temporary work. Full time job placement
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          2  assistance is also available for those clients that

          3  want and need this service.

          4                 We are now completing the first phase

          5  of this three- year experiment. In this phase, we

          6  establish a presence on Rikers Island, developed

          7  detail operating procedures with DOC staff,

          8  implemented recruitment and document readiness

          9  efforts and established a first day out work site

         10  for all inmates who board the CEO bus to work. To

         11  date, 1,445 inmates have volunteered for the program

         12  and gotten on the CEO bus, which reflects the high

         13  interest inmates have in work as well as the

         14  effective team effort of CEO, DOC, the Vera

         15  Institute and others.

         16                 We're now beginning phase two of the

         17  project. Engaging inmates post- release and ensuring

         18  that they work steadily and receive the additional

         19  support they need in the community such as drug

         20  treatment and housing assistance. To accomplish

         21  this, we're working more closely with our discharge

         22  planning colleagues including the Osborne

         23  Association, the Fortune Society, the Women's Prison

         24  Association and Home, Samaritan Village as well as

         25  other organizations. We believe these efforts will
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          2  lead to higher employment rates and more stable,

          3  productive lives for inmates engaged in the City's

          4  discharge planning program.

          5                 Finally, I'd like to commend the

          6  Committee for proposing a resolution to ensure that

          7  people with convictions are not automatically barred

          8  from employment in various occupations. I'm happy to

          9  see that the National HIRE Network is testifying

         10  next as they are the preeminent experts in this

         11  area. As co- chair of the Network's Advisory Board,

         12  I know that they will fully address this issue in

         13  their testimony this morning. Thank you for this

         14  opportunity to tell you about CEO and our Rikers

         15  Island Employment Re- entry Initiative.

         16                 MR. MARTIN: Good morning, Glenn

         17  Martin, National HIRE Network of the Legal Action

         18  Center. I'd like to thank the members of the

         19  Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services and

         20  other City council members and particularly

         21  Chairperson Yvette Clarke for affording me the

         22  opportunity to testify here today on these important

         23  issues.

         24                 For over 30 years, the Legal Action

         25  Center has fought for the civil rights of people in
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          2  recovery from alcohol and drug dependence, people

          3  with HIV/AIDS and individuals with past criminal

          4  records. The Legal Action Center created the

          5  National HIRE Network two years ago to promote the

          6  employment of people with criminal record by serving

          7  as a national clearinghouse for information,

          8  promoting collaboration between policy makers,

          9  practitioners and researchers and by providing

         10  leadership on public policy on issues at the

         11  intersection of workforce development and criminal

         12  justice policy and practice. We are grateful for the

         13  support that the City Council provides to the Legal

         14  Action Center that supports direct legal services

         15  and technical assistance to people with criminal

         16  backgrounds and organizations that serve them.

         17                 Through my position as Senior Legal

         18  Assistance and in my current role as the Deputy

         19  Director of the National HIRE Network, I've had the

         20  opportunity to witness firsthand the legal and

         21  practical barriers faced by qualified and

         22  rehabilitated people with criminal records who are

         23  seeking to enter the labor market. I'd like to focus

         24  my testimony on the resolution that addresses the

         25  barriers faced by people with criminal records in

                                                            53

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  obtaining occupational licenses.

          3                 We applaud the City Council's action

          4  to support efforts to increase the labor market

          5  participation of people with criminal records in New

          6  York as one critical component of successful

          7  prisoner re- entry and increased community safety.

          8  The Legal Action Center recently released a report,

          9  After Prison: Roadblocks to Re- entry, a Report on

         10  State Legal Barriers Facing People with Criminal

         11  Records. The report accomplishes three goals. One,

         12  it documents the legal barriers in all 50 states

         13  regarding employment, housing, public assistance,

         14  food stamps, voting, driver's license privileges,

         15  access to records and adoptive and foster parenting.

         16  Two, it evaluates states on whether their laws and

         17  policies help or hinder the ability of people with

         18  criminal records to reenter society successfully.

         19  And three, it provides a blueprint for reform,

         20  outlining a series of legislative reforms state and

         21  federal government should enact to ensure that

         22  people with past criminal records are able to re-

         23  integrate successfully.

         24                 While New York did the best of all 50

         25  states and has demonstrated leadership in enacting

                                                            54

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  legislation to protect people with criminal records

          3  from discrimination in many areas, including

          4  employment, the State can and should do more to

          5  strengthen existing legislation to ensure the

          6  successful re- entry of people with criminal

          7  records.

          8                 Under Article 23 of New York State

          9  Correction Law, employers and occupational licensing

         10  agencies are prohibited from barring job applicants

         11  based upon criminal convictions unless they are job

         12  related or the applicant poses a direct threat to

         13  public safety or property. Employers are required to

         14  consider individuals on a case- by- case basis and

         15  evaluate evidence of rehabilitation. When an

         16  individual is denied employment or licensure based

         17  upon a conviction, he or she is entitled to a

         18  written statement of the reasons for denial.

         19                 Moreover, New York State issues

         20  Certificates of Relief from Good Conduct and

         21  Certificates of Relief from Disabilities to relieve

         22  automatic bars that arise from having a criminal

         23  record. These certificates are extremely important

         24  and valuable because many occupational licenses in

         25  New York prohibit people with criminal records from
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          2  being eligible. When a person obtains either type of

          3  certificate, the automatic bar is removed and

          4  occupational licensing agency is prohibited from

          5  automatically disqualifying the person.

          6                 However, these certificates have

          7  limited value because they do not address the

          8  practical barrier of an individual having a criminal

          9  record. Many state licensing agencies require a

         10  showing of "good moral character" for the issuance

         11  of various types of licenses, including those to

         12  become an accountant, architect, barber,

         13  chiropractor, health care professional, plumber,

         14  electrician and taxi driver. Each of the agencies

         15  that issue licenses determine the definition of good

         16  moral character.

         17                 In the absence of specific

         18  documentation demonstrating good moral character,

         19  applicants are routinely denied licenses solely on

         20  the basis of having a criminal record even when the

         21  conviction occurred many years ago and is unrelated

         22  to the license being sought.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Mr. Martin, if

         24  you could just summarize.

         25                 MR. MARTIN: Okay. The practical
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          2  barrier of denying licensure because of the lack of

          3  good moral character is perhaps best illustrated

          4  through one of many -- sorry. We strongly encourage

          5  the New York State Legislature to address the

          6  practical barrier many people with criminal records

          7  face when they apply for licenses for which they are

          8  trained and qualified. In doing so, we will ensure

          9  successful re- entry and also support employers who

         10  want to hire qualified people but are otherwise

         11  barred from doing so because the job applicant

         12  cannot obtain a license by virtue of having a

         13  conviction history. Thank you for your attention to

         14  these issues.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

         16  you all for your testimony and rest assured, Mr.

         17  Martin, that your full testimony will be a part of

         18  this record and will be utilized as we move forward

         19  to address particularly these employment barriers. I

         20  have a number of questions. I'd like to just address

         21  something that Mr. Cho said in his testimony with

         22  respect to the initiative you're working on that

         23  focuses on heavy users with the highest need group

         24  of folks at Rikers Island. Can you please describe

         25  the initiative?

                                                            57

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 MR. CHO: Sure. Sure. The initiative

          3  arose actually as a result of a data match that took

          4  place between the Department of Correction and the

          5  Department of Homeless Services. And the data match

          6  revealed that over a two year period, approximately

          7  3,600 people cycled back and forth between jails and

          8  shelters. They intentionally looked at the number of

          9  episodes and the number of days that people spent

         10  within both jails and shelters. They found that of

         11  those the top 25 users spent approximately close to

         12  380 days out of any two year period within both

         13  jails and shelters splitting pretty much evenly

         14  between jails and shelters. Out of the two year

         15  period, they spent over a year in one of the jails

         16  or shelters.

         17                 The initiative is looking at ways

         18  that we can engage those people the minute they

         19  enter either jails or shelters and provide them with

         20  specialized assistance that would be voluntary and

         21  where nonprofit providers would engage them into

         22  services possibly linked to housing. We're

         23  continuing to work with the providers and with City

         24  government to help shape that initiative.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And do you get a
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          2  sense from at least your initial, I guess,

          3  examination of this that housing is the issue? It

          4  just seems to me that these folks are looking for a

          5  place to stay and once they're out of the shelter

          6  system, they're on the street. Their likelihood of

          7  getting caught up in some sort of criminal activity

          8  which will lead to another shelter system becomes a

          9  way of life. Is that some of what your observations

         10  have been thus far?

         11                 MR. CHO: That's an excellent

         12  question. I think the research that we've done on

         13  both kind of quantitatively as well as we also did a

         14  focus group at one of the DHS shelters talking to

         15  these individuals themselves. We identified that the

         16  pattern of the usage, it indicates that they are

         17  falling through the cracks of systems because they

         18  stay relatively short periods of time in either

         19  system. So, the service providers who are working in

         20  shelters or in jails are not able to engage them

         21  into services. I want to clarify that it's not just

         22  housing, but it is a service enriched housing

         23  setting that we're looking to crack to help these

         24  individuals.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'd like to
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          2  acknowledge that we've been joined by Council Member

          3  James Sanders, Jr., of Queens and also just make

          4  reference to this hearing and the legislation that

          5  is brought before you today. A number of it has come

          6  out of a series of hearings that have been held

          7  around this issue for some time and this is just our

          8  initial hearing. Nothing that is brought before you

          9  today goes into final forum until we have another

         10  hearing which is why your testimony here today is so

         11  important. It helps to continue to shape and really

         12  fine tine what will ultimately become the

         13  legislation that is passed before this body. Fear

         14  not, Mr. Cho, we will be having, of course, your

         15  input and the input of your agencies as we move

         16  forward to make sure that we don't miss the mark

         17  with the legislation that is put forward.

         18                 I want to raise a question with the

         19  Legal Action Center and the whole Medicaid

         20  enrollment issue. You focused more on or whoever can

         21  answer the question, you didn't really hit on it in

         22  terms of your testimony, but perhaps there is

         23  someone at the table who has looked at this that can

         24  give us some insight into what is happening. Is

         25  there someone at the table?
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          2                 MS. NELSON: We're not the Medicaid

          3  panel.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. Perhaps one

          5  of our future advocates will be able to go into more

          6  detail about it. But I wanted to ask about

          7  Resolution 283 which refers to an Illinois law that

          8  was enacted to rectify the situation where

          9  discretionary employment bars are treated as

         10  mandatory bars. I know that your organization had a

         11  role in developing these reforms. Can you please

         12  tell me if this legislation has been successful in

         13  the state of Illinois in ensuring that ex- offenders

         14  are not barred from certain employment that they

         15  should be eligible for?

         16                 MR. MARTIN: While the law is

         17  relatively new, we did have a hand in offering them

         18  model legislation for this particular bill that was

         19  signed into law. The difference between their bill

         20  and New York's bill, of course, is a couple of

         21  things. One in New York, we don't have a record of

         22  how many people have applied and obtained these

         23  certificates. And therefore, we have no track record

         24  of the applicability of these certificates. In

         25  Illinois, that's not the case. They will be keeping

                                                            61

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  track of how many people apply. How people are

          3  issued and subsequent employment as a result of

          4  obtaining these certificates.

          5                 Again, in New York State, because of

          6  the good moral character clause for a lot of these

          7  licenses, the certificate doesn't mitigate in that

          8  circumstance. However, in Illinois, if a person

          9  receives a certificate, it serves as evidence of

         10  good moral character. Therefore, many more

         11  occupations opened up to those individuals.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: For us, it's

         13  really a matter of discretion because the individual

         14  gets to interpret what and it is subjective because

         15  an individual gets to say who fits that category and

         16  who doesn't.

         17                 MR. MARTIN: It varies from agency to

         18  agency, yes. And there is over a hundred licensing

         19  agencies in New York State.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: It's up to the

         21  licensing agency? When an individual receives the

         22  appropriate license, if they go to an employer, does

         23  the employer have any discretion or does it then

         24  become a matter of discrimination at that point?

         25                 MR. MARTIN: If a person obtains a

                                                            62

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  license, it doesn't enforce the employer to hire the

          3  person. It should put a person at a position where

          4  they're equally qualified with another individual.

          5  There should be nothing else. The criminal

          6  conviction shouldn't be an absolute bar. At that

          7  point, Article 23 of New York State comes into

          8  effect where the employer has to take into account

          9  the severity of the conviction, how long since the

         10  conviction, the relationship between the conviction

         11  and the job the person is applying for. But once the

         12  person has the license, they should have the

         13  opportunity to apply for the position like any other

         14  qualified individual.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: With respect to

         16  many of these licenses that were brought up in your

         17  testimony really lend to opportunities for self-

         18  employment. I guess that's why we're really looking

         19  at this very focused. Because these licenses would

         20  enable certain individuals to practice a trade or a

         21  craft. Who is responsible? Is there a particular

         22  entity within each licensing agency that makes the

         23  determination on whether the person is fit or not to

         24  receive that license?

         25                 MR. MARTIN: Each agency would have
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          2  some sort of body, some sort of investigative review

          3  body that would review the person's criminal justice

          4  information and so on. And then it varies from

          5  agency to agency. There is no one set structure of

          6  how a body is set up to make the determination of

          7  whether or not a person has gotten past the point of

          8  having good moral character. It really varies from

          9  agency to agency, again.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Do you think that

         11  perhaps having a centralized review entity that has

         12  the ability to look at this from an unbiased

         13  standpoint is a way in which we should be looking at

         14  addressing this?

         15                 MR. MARTIN: I think that would be

         16  somewhat difficult because again the licensing

         17  agencies also have to take Article 23 into account.

         18  And one of the most important things is the

         19  relationship between the conviction to the license

         20  being sought. I think that would be somewhat

         21  difficult for one central body to do for all of

         22  these different types of licenses. My suggestion

         23  would be again that we remedy the law governing

         24  certificates released from disability so that once a

         25  person obtains it, it removes -- sort of defines
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          2  that they do have good moral character or that we

          3  come up with one set of definition of what good

          4  moral character is that could be applied across

          5  agencies.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Ms. Tarlow, you

          7  had raised an issue about or actually in your

          8  testimony you stated that with the Rikers Island

          9  employment re- entry initiative, you were able to, I

         10  believe, have 1,445 inmates volunteer for the

         11  program. Is there a particular profile or criteria

         12  that these inmates have for this program?

         13                 MS. TARLOW: No. Actually, we will

         14  take anyone who is interested in work and who self-

         15  reports that they can do the kinds of immediate work

         16  that we provide which generally is physical in

         17  nature. If they self- report, yes, I can do this

         18  work and yes, I'm interested in working and we can

         19  work with them to get their documents ready prior to

         20  the moment of release, they are eligible for the

         21  program.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, their housing

         23  status is not --

         24                 MS. TARLOW: We certainly collect that

         25  information because as you've heard a lot here this
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          2  morning, it is very relevant to an individual's

          3  ability to successfully stay employed. But we don't

          4  screen people out because of their housing status.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. All right.

          6  As you know, we really didn't get into Intro 310

          7  today. We will be going into further discussions

          8  about it. But I just wanted to get some of your

          9  general sentiments around the discharge planning

         10  process. Where we are, what your observations have

         11  been and what you think we can do from a Council's

         12  standpoint in addressing some things that would help

         13  to facilitate a smooth process.

         14                 MS. TARLOW: Well, CEO is the kind of

         15  newcomer to the discharge planning process and we're

         16  really happy to be part of this group of excellent

         17  and experienced providers. I guess from our point of

         18  view, I think we're starting that process now. We're

         19  really collaborating well understanding that

         20  employment doesn't stand alone. Treatment doesn't

         21  sound alone. Housing doesn't stand alone. That they

         22  are together the three primary issues that will make

         23  or break somebody trying to come out from prison

         24  into a community setting. I hate to say it because

         25  it's so clich‚d, but it's really a matter of
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          2  resources.

          3                 I think that the Council has been

          4  incredibly supportive of the alternative to

          5  incarceration programs and all of the other

          6  community corrections programs that are out there.

          7  But I think if properly resourced and with the

          8  leadership of someone like Commissioner Horn and

          9  Commissioner Gibbs leading the charge, that we have

         10  a real shot. In my experience, the best shot we've

         11  ever had at really making this work and having a

         12  lasting impact.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Anyone else have

         14  any comments on that?

         15                 MR. CHO: I'd just like agree with

         16  Mindy that it is a resource issue and I think you'll

         17  hear from the Re- entry Housing Roundtable about an

         18  initiative that we're proposing with the state

         19  legislature to expand some funding for housing and

         20  services for people who are leaving incarceration of

         21  which I think the heavy users would be an eligible

         22  population.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, I want to

         24  thank you all for your testimony here today and look

         25  forward to continue dialogue in discussion with
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          2  respect to this issue. Thank you.

          3                 MS. TARLOW: Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'd like to ask

          5  one of the Sergeants to please bring another chair

          6  to our table for testimony. We're going to complete

          7  testimony on these matters here today with a panel

          8  of five individuals. I'd like to call Isabel

          9  McDevitt from the Doe Fund; Jennifer Batterton of

         10  the Re- entry Roundtable; Joel Copperman and Ann-

         11  Marie Louison of Cases. We're going to need one more

         12  chair. One more one more chair. Carol Shapiro of

         13  Family Justice and Kathleen O'Boyle from Center for

         14  Community Alternatives.

         15                 I want to thank you all for taking

         16  time from your busy schedule to address us here

         17  today and before you begin your testimony, be

         18  reminded the three minute timer and also state your

         19  name and affiliation. Thank you.

         20                 MS. MCDEVITT: Good morning. Thank you

         21  for the opportunity to testify before the Committee

         22  on Fire and Criminal Justice Services.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: One moment.

         24                 MS. MCDEVITT: Sorry.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And also state
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          2  your name and affiliation.

          3                 MS. MCDEVITT: Yes, I will. My name is

          4  Isabel McDevitt and I will be testifying on behalf

          5  of the Doe Fund, a nonprofit organization that runs

          6  transitional housing and work programs to help

          7  homeless individuals achieve lives of self-

          8  sufficiency. At any given time, over 75 percent of

          9  the more than 650 homeless men we serve in our

         10  Ready, Willing and Able Program have a history of

         11  incarceration and more than 50 percent come directly

         12  to us within one year of release.

         13                 In order for an ex- offender to

         14  successfully reenter mainstream society, he or she

         15  must have a foundation from which to rebuild his or

         16  her life. Often the circumstances that lead to an

         17  individual's incarceration such as drug abuse or a

         18  life of crime, alienate an ex- offender from his or

         19  her family and community. Even after serving one's

         20  sentence, these broken bonds will not be repaired

         21  and it is likely that he or she will not only have

         22  no where to go upon release, but will need

         23  assistance to stabilize during the re- entry

         24  process.

         25                 In addition, without basic tools such
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          2  as proper identification and Medicaid to access

          3  health care, substance abuse treatment and

          4  counseling, those reentering will be barred from

          5  obtaining housing and employment that are key

          6  ingredients necessary to succeed in society and stay

          7  out of the criminal justice system.

          8                 Employment, housing and sobriety are

          9  the basis for successful re- entry. Programs such as

         10  The Doe Fund's Ready, Willing and Able Work and

         11  Training Programs that combines transitional

         12  housing, paid work and support services for homeless

         13  ex- offenders allow those reentering the chance to

         14  break the cycles of incarceration and homelessness.

         15  By living in a drug and alcohol free environment,

         16  taking personal responsibility through working 35

         17  hours per week and saving over $1,000, trainees are

         18  able to obtain mainstream employment and independent

         19  housing out of the shelter system.

         20                 To support programs like Ready,

         21  Willing and Able that reduce recidivism, it is

         22  necessary that government and society at large not

         23  only acknowledge the need for these transitional

         24  services, but institutional barriers and policies

         25  that deny access to employment or housing for ex-
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          2  offenders must be challenged and lifted. Government

          3  must streamline the bureaucratic channels that can

          4  impede successful re- entry. Without being able to

          5  obtain a wide range of jobs within growing sectors

          6  or without being able to reunite with family in

          7  public housing or without assistance in the

          8  discharge planning process to ensure that he or she

          9  has a plan for reentering, it is likely that the ex-

         10  offender will be directionless and without support

         11  will become a danger to themselves or others.

         12                 The resolutions put forth by this

         13  Committee are positive steps toward assisting and

         14  creating a framework of support ex- offenders. The

         15  Doe Fund is in favor of all resolutions and is also

         16  supportive of the Re- entry Roundtable's testimony

         17  highlighting the need for housing. In addition, I

         18  would like to take a moment to address Resolution

         19  283 pertaining to employment.

         20                 It is a documented fact that

         21  unemployment among ex- offenders is a strong

         22  indicator of who will commit crimes after release.

         23  In fact, the New York State Department of Labor

         24  found 83 percent of probation and parole violators

         25  were unemployed at the time of their violations. At
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          2  the Doe Fund, we offer paid work for ex- offenders

          3  to build a resume and gain positive work experience

          4  in order to secure mainstream employment upon

          5  graduation. Over 50 percent of trainees who enter

          6  the program obtain full time jobs with an average

          7  wage of $9.00 an hour and 65 percent of them are

          8  employed, housed and drug- free one year later.

          9                 We ask that programs such as The Doe

         10  Fund and others that promote the collaboration

         11  between services, housing and employment be

         12  supported and we applaud the Committee's efforts to

         13  look at some of the institutional barriers that

         14  stand in the way of positive re- entry. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 MS. BATTERTON: Good morning. My name

         18  is Jennifer Batterton from Common Ground Community.

         19  However, I'm testifying this morning on behalf of

         20  the Re- entry Housing Roundtable. As Richard Cho of

         21  the Corporation for Supportive Housing previously

         22  explained, the Roundtable is a coalition of 30

         23  nonprofit organizations, housing and service

         24  providers, advocates and other experts who have come

         25  together to advocate for the expansion of housing
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          2  and housing- based services for person leaving

          3  prisons and jails in New York City. The Re- entry

          4  Housing Roundtable commends you for your leadership

          5  and commitment to the housing and service needs of

          6  formerly incarcerated people and thanks you for the

          7  opportunity to testify.

          8                 The legislation and resolution that

          9  you have drafted are important steps in reversing

         10  decades of repressive policies that have limited

         11  choices and opportunities for already

         12  disenfranchised and marginalized people. Access to

         13  discharge planning, to employment and to

         14  reunification with family members are all critical

         15  elements to help people leaving City jails

         16  successfully transition to the community and lead

         17  stable, crime- free and self- actualized lives.

         18                 In particular, the resolutions to

         19  ensure legal protection against employment

         20  discrimination for people with convictions and the

         21  resolution calling for the State to suspend rather

         22  than terminate Medicaid benefits for people leaving

         23  City jails would restore fairness and provide

         24  critical opportunities for people leaving City

         25  jails.
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          2                 At the same time, it is important to

          3  recognize that discharge planning and employment

          4  assistance are limited in their ability to truly

          5  impact the lives of formerly incarcerated people if

          6  former inmates don't have a safe and affordable

          7  place to live. More needs to be done to increase

          8  housing opportunities for formerly incarcerated

          9  people.

         10                 We at the Re- entry Housing

         11  Roundtable firmly believe that housing is the

         12  cornerstone of the process of re- entry from jail or

         13  prison into the community. Housing serves as the

         14  starting point for rebuilding life after

         15  incarceration and is the first area that needs to be

         16  addressed before an individual can begin to focus on

         17  getting a job, dealing with health, mental health or

         18  substance abuse needs or reunifying with children

         19  and families.

         20                 Unfortunately, too many people

         21  leaving City jails, including those that are lucky

         22  enough to receive discharge planning assistance

         23  continue to wind up in the shelter system which more

         24  and more resource shows contributes to the risk of

         25  re- arrest and a return to criminal justice
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          2  involvement.

          3                 We feel the discharge planning along

          4  with other services designed to help formerly

          5  incarcerated people lead more stable and crime free

          6  lives, works most effectively when it is centered

          7  around housing. Discharge planning should not treat

          8  housing as an after thought as it does currently and

          9  too often does today. But instead should attempt to

         10  wrap the service plan around housing.

         11                 Therefore, any legislation that sets

         12  guidelines or standards for discharge planning

         13  should include additional language that explicitly

         14  discusses discharge planning as not only assessing

         15  housing needs, but also involving the development of

         16  housing plans for inmates leaving City correctional

         17  institutions. The language should expect discharge

         18  planners to identify and link individuals to

         19  appropriate and viable housing options other than

         20  homeless shelters as part of any discharge or

         21  transition plan. We also recommend that discharge

         22  planning efforts be prioritized for the highest need

         23  inmates, those who have special needs such as mental

         24  illness, substance use issues or HIV/AIDS or who

         25  have histories of homelessness.
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          2                 Therefore, CSH and the Re- entry

          3  Housing Roundtable are asking the State legislator

          4  to appropriate $11 million in new funds for State

          5  fiscal year 2004- 2005 that would lead to the

          6  creation of 160 new units of re- entry housing.

          7  These funds would provide the capital, operating and

          8  services funding necessary to serve approximately

          9  270 formerly incarcerated individuals and 50

         10  formerly incarcerated and reunited families per

         11  year.

         12                 We ask that you would review our

         13  proposal and provide your support in helping us to

         14  expand re- entry housing in New York City. Thank

         15  you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         17  much. Before we proceed with testimony, I wanted to

         18  just get on the record, Council Member James

         19  Sanders, Jr, vote on Resolution 262.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         21  Sanders?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I vote aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote stands at six

         24  in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         25  abstentions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you. Let us

          3  continue with our testimony.

          4                 MR. COPPERMAN: My name is Joel

          5  Copperman from the Center for Alternatives

          6  Sentencing and Employment Services. I'm here with

          7  Ann- Marie Louison who is the Director of Cases

          8  Mental Health Programs. Ann- Marie will address many

          9  of the issues that are raised by the Resolutions and

         10  matters that have been before this Council. I wanted

         11  to take less than my full time to first thank the

         12  Council for it's ongoing support of ATI Programs and

         13  express our interest in continuing to work with you

         14  in the future.

         15                 Secondly, to just briefly mention

         16  something that's not on the Council's list of issues

         17  that are being talked about and that's the work that

         18  you did raise, Council Member Clarke, about working

         19  about youth. And encourage the Council to take a

         20  special look at this issue. There are different

         21  issues relating to youth and they are not

         22  appropriately raised at this time except to mention

         23  them (end of side two -- words missing) --

         24  extraordinary amount of work with young people and

         25  lots of that work relates to education.
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          2                 Commissioner Horn mentioned 81

          3  percent of the young men coming out of OCFS

          4  facilities are rearrested within three years. DJJ

          5  has a readmission rate of 46 percent. While the work

          6  that is being done here is crucial and

          7  extraordinary, I applaud all of the similar efforts

          8  and needs to be done around youth and I encourage

          9  the Council to get involved in those issues.

         10                 MS. LOUISON: I would like to voice

         11  CASES's support for Resolution 263A which would

         12  require the suspension rather than termination of

         13  Medicaid benefits for individuals returning from

         14  City jails. Time and time again, CASES staff grapple

         15  with the effects of Medicaid termination as they

         16  work with mentally ill offenders in our three mental

         17  health programs. Our strategy for bringing about

         18  real changes in the lives of individuals is to make

         19  available best practices of the mental health field

         20  to individuals released from the justice system to

         21  our programs, effective methods such that

         22  incorporate peer support and intensive treatment

         23  services.

         24                 CASES mental health programs serve

         25  180 people each year who returned from City jails;
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          2  individuals with mental illness who often experience

          3  co- occurring substance abuse disorders, physical

          4  health conditions and homelessness. Tragically, our

          5  capacity to effectively assist our participants is

          6  compromised by Medicaid termination in many ways.

          7  Program staff must dedicate precious resources in

          8  the form of time and money to the bureaucratic task

          9  of re- enrolling our participants in Medicaid.

         10                 While individuals terminated from

         11  Medicaid who are leaving jail are provided with a

         12  temporary medication grant card, they are ineligible

         13  for medication relating to chronic health

         14  conditions. The ensuing delays keeps many

         15  individuals from being properly diagnosed and

         16  treated. The discontinuation of medical treatment

         17  will often exaggerate a condition which if diagnosed

         18  earlier would require less costly medical

         19  intervention.

         20                 Medicaid termination also yields a

         21  costly misappropriation of program resources. Before

         22  concluding, I would like to provide with you two

         23  case studies of participants in our mental health

         24  program. One client, a 54- year- old woman with HIV

         25  was rearrested, jailed and discharged from Rikers
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          2  Island, all within a two- week period. As a result,

          3  her Medicaid was not terminated. Upon release, she

          4  was able to receive immediate treatment for an

          5  infection in her mouth that was brought on by her

          6  HIV status. This individual was able to return to

          7  her community service provider who was knowledgeable

          8  about her medical history within 22 hours of

          9  release.

         10                 This case can be compared with that

         11  of a 60- year- old woman who had been in jail for

         12  four months before being released to CASES. Her

         13  Medicaid benefits had been terminated. She suffered

         14  from asthma, lower back pain, abdominal pain and

         15  hypertension. CASES staff also believed that she was

         16  experiencing symptoms of Dementia and required a

         17  neurological work up. Because she did not have

         18  Medicaid, she had to wait an entire month to receive

         19  medical attention for both the physical pain and

         20  neurological evaluation.

         21                 The juxtaposition of these two cases

         22  illustrates the need for discharge planning that

         23  requires reinstatement of Medicaid to address

         24  people's significant health conditions. We

         25  wholeheartedly endorse Resolution 263.A.
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          2                 MS. SHAPIRO: Good morning. I'm Carol

          3  Shapiro with Family Justice and our store front

          4  service, La Bodega de la Familia. I am here largely

          5  as a member of a number of roundtables on people

          6  coming out of jail and prison in support of the work

          7  that you're doing here, in particular that of the

          8  Administration and my colleagues in the nonprofit

          9  world.

         10                 I wanted to underscore in supporting

         11  the proposals something that Councilwoman Clarke you

         12  mentioned was families. And our work is about how

         13  you do support not just those coming out of our

         14  jails, but how do you look at the impact on their

         15  families. You saw from the chart that you have

         16  people cycling in and out in just a few days. What

         17  we need to be conscious of is the impact on other

         18  loved ones who are affected by their incarceration.

         19  But also who they themselves may be involved in the

         20  criminal justice system.

         21                 We serve families in partnership with

         22  government and a host of nonprofits in the lower

         23  East side. We had an epidemiological study done

         24  recently and I think this is really telling of why

         25  we have to do this work of discharge planning,
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          2  looking at housing,  employment differently. Sixty-

          3  two percent within our families had more than two

          4  people struggling with addiction. Forty- five

          5  percent had more than two people involved in the

          6  criminal justice system and over 16 percent of these

          7  families had more than two members diagnosed with

          8  HIV and AIDS. So, part of it is how do we break

          9  these cycles by generations. Not just think about an

         10  individual coming out, but the connections that they

         11  do have.

         12                 I really am just here to urge how we

         13  think creatively. We are about to operate a

         14  satellite in public housing of how we reach this

         15  from a family perspective by tapping the great

         16  agencies that are out there and also our government

         17  partners. So, I thank you for the opportunity to be

         18  here today.

         19                 MS. O'BOYLE: Good morning. My name is

         20  Kathleen O'Boyle. I'm the Deputy Director of the

         21  Center for Community Alternatives. I want to thank

         22  you for the opportunity to address you this morning

         23  on re- entry issues and in support of proposed

         24  resolutions and legislation.

         25                 CCA has been helping prisoners and

                                                            82

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  detainees reintegrate into the community for more

          3  than 20 years. Initially through our clients

          4  specific planning model which works with defense

          5  attorneys to provide alternative sentencing when

          6  appropriate and also sentence mitigation plans and

          7  capital case plans for defendants.

          8                 About 15 years ago, we started our

          9  Crossroads program, a drug treatment program for

         10  women, that advocates for women's release from

         11  Rikers Island and in order to do so must provide a

         12  transitional plan that the courts will accept and

         13  find satisfactory. We've also for about 15 years

         14  been working with the juvenile delinquent population

         15  and the juvenile offender population doing the same

         16  kind of work.

         17                 The proposed City Council resolutions

         18  and introduction will reduce significant barriers to

         19  successful re- entry. I want to applaud the Council

         20  for taking leadership on this. I also want to thank

         21  Commissioner Horn for working with the community

         22  based organizations in a way that as Chair Clarke

         23  said that we haven't seen in recent history to make

         24  re- entry an issue and try to impede the systematic

         25  barriers to it.
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          2                 We support the proposal, the proposed

          3  legislation. And we would just like to also ask that

          4  the Council keep in mind from our experience what we

          5  think are three very important points for successful

          6  re- entry. One is that they begin early. CCA would

          7  propose that it begin at sentencing, not after. Our

          8  experience in doing client to specific plans have

          9  showed that our best success with people coming out

         10  of the community were with plans that would develop

         11  before the person went into prison by getting the

         12  family support together and coming up with a long-

         13  term plan that also identifies the best facilities

         14  where people can be housed while they are

         15  incarcerated that will be begin to treat some of

         16  their needs. And then, of course, a long- range plan

         17  at their release.

         18                 Number two, they should be

         19  individualized. We can't presume that every person

         20  leaving prison or jail will need the same thing.

         21  Some people need reunification with family. For

         22  others, they need a whole new life with housing and

         23  a new network system. Of course, they most all need

         24  organization around basic social economic support.

         25                 And then also that the assistance
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          2  from the various systems be available on day one not

          3  day 30. I think that the resolutions and the

          4  proposed legislation addresses this. This is, of

          5  course, very important. I know all the community

          6  based organizations have been working and our staff

          7  are very skilled at overcoming some of these

          8  barriers. But I think our resources could be put to

          9  much better use if the systems worked.

         10                 Finally, it makes good fiscal sense

         11  for New York to put into place a well- organized,

         12  well- planned and sufficiently resourced re- entry

         13  system. I just want to thank the Council for the

         14  opportunity to address you today.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

         16  all of you for your testimony here today as you

         17  really have brought the diversity of this issue to

         18  the table, to the forefront and come up with some

         19  really solid recommendations. I want to ask a

         20  question to, well, anyone at the table can really

         21  answer this.

         22                 I think one of the challenges in my

         23  observation just even in terms of terminology, do we

         24  call folks coming back to our community inmates,

         25  former inmates, ex- offenders, offenders and their
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          2  challenge is? I think, in society around what do we

          3  call these people. Who are they? And we know that

          4  originally they are our neighbors. In some cases,

          5  they are our friends. They are relatives.

          6                 The stigma of being a former inmate,

          7  an ex- offender, how do we deal with that in terms

          8  of re- entry. Are we setting ourselves up when we

          9  talk about creating specific housing or specific

         10  programs? Are we setting ourselves up for further

         11  stigmatization or is there a vision for an

         12  integrative approach that would eliminate that? I'm

         13  just envisioning, yes, folks need housing. And then

         14  it becomes an issue of, of my god, we're going to

         15  have this heavy concentration of these people or

         16  them. When quite frankly, they already live in our

         17  communities. They came from our community to begin

         18  with. But being able to point to that person and

         19  say, I know you're a former inmate makes a big

         20  difference, a world of difference, I think just

         21  psychologically to people. Particularly those groups

         22  who really had to deal with this or from the housing

         23  perspective, if you can give me your opinion on

         24  that.

         25                 MS. LOUISON: Some of the prior work
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          2  that CASES did was actually around mapping around

          3  re- entry. One of things that the agency found was

          4  the ex- offenders actually went to very specific

          5  localities and districts. There are not everybody's

          6  neighbors. For us, the issue is about accessibility.

          7  Part of the stigma is also that you have to reduce

          8  the barrier and you have to have immediate solutions

          9  and then you have to have long- term solutions. Part

         10  of the issue that I know the re- entry coalition is

         11  thinking about is for an immediate solution.

         12                 You need to reduce the barriers, the

         13  stigmatized people, the main stream housing

         14  providers may not be interested in as this person is

         15  a viable person to give access to housing. The

         16  coalition is based on creating a transitional model,

         17  not a permanent model for all housing re- entry. But

         18  want to reduce the immediate barriers. I think the

         19  Council needs to think about short- term intermedin

         20  and long- term resolutions to actually facilitate

         21  people having good re- entry.

         22                 As Carol said, the families are sort

         23  of key to this. One of the groups that we should be

         24  clearly looking at are families because we know that

         25  people coming back from State prisons do go to very
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          2  specific neighborhoods in New York City that we

          3  should let the families also have a lot of

          4  information on how they help facilitate complete

          5  reintegration for their family members.

          6                 MS. SHAPIRO: I would just add very

          7  quickly that there's something about tapping and

          8  looking differently. If you look at the strengths of

          9  these neighborhoods that are targeted, if you look

         10  at the strengths of culture and connections that

         11  exist, it has a destigmatizing potential. Secondly,

         12  when you shift the lens instead of just thinking

         13  about when people under justice supervision, but

         14  thinking about families and neighborhoods and what

         15  they have to offer. It has a potential of engaging

         16  law enforcement in a very different way instead of

         17  demonizing  and looking for faults. It's looking for

         18  longer term solutions. I think the movement afoot in

         19  looking seriously at neighborhoods and what they

         20  have to offer is something that's just beginning to

         21  be seen around the country as well as in New York.

         22                 MS. MCDEVITT: I would agree with

         23  what's been said. But I would just also bring up two

         24  other points. I think there is a real public

         25  education that needs to happen around this issue.
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          2  Particularly around employment issues for not only

          3  the state agencies to remove some of the barriers,

          4  but also for employers to become educated about the

          5  skills and talents that are represented in this

          6  labor pool. Our approach is to create a positive

          7  work environment and give people the tools of

          8  transitional employment to become good employees

          9  before an employer will hire them. But there is

         10  still a lot that needs to be done around looking at

         11  discrimination and I think the Council can take a

         12  lead role on that and also there's work to be done

         13  on a public education front.

         14                 Similarly around housing, the re-

         15  entry roundtable has had a lot of discussions about

         16  how we can bring this issue to the forefront in a

         17  positive way and not only reinvesting financial

         18  resources but looking at this need for supportive

         19  housing to promote public safety so that we can

         20  reduce recidivism and break the cycles of re-

         21  incarceration and homelessness. I think that you're

         22  absolutely right that we need to develop a positive

         23  approach around this issue. And we do need to come

         24  up with a name that isn't a stigmatizing name. But I

         25  think that a lot needs to be done on the public
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          2  front to get the word of there that we can't afford

          3  to ignore this population.

          4                 MS. O'BOYLE: I agree. As far as the

          5  terminology goes, as far as I know, although it has

          6  been discussed, we haven't really decided on one

          7  particular term that we think doesn't have a

          8  negative connotation and then also we have to gear

          9  our discussions toward our audience. So, if we're

         10  talking with correction officials, we may have to

         11  say inmates. But to agree with everyone here at the

         12  table, I don't know that finding euphemism for the

         13  terms that we already use is going to for very long

         14  do away with the stigma. It is really about public

         15  education. Everyone knows that we're talking about

         16  people who were incarcerated. Whether they were

         17  inmates, once they come out they are community

         18  members and once CCA or any of these agencies are

         19  involved with then, they are clients.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: My Counsel gave

         21  me terminology. But I think we probably all fit into

         22  that in some form or fashion. He said perhaps we

         23  should call folks who have been incarcerated

         24  formerly legally challenged. But I think many of us

         25  have been formerly -- perhaps that is the answer.

                                                            90

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  Because there aren't too many of us out here whether

          3  it's a parking violation or what have you. We don't

          4  want to minimize things. He's usually much more

          5  substance. He just wanted me to bring that to the

          6  table.

          7                 Mr. Copperman, I want to thank you

          8  for raising the issue of the juvenile population.

          9  Unfortunately, this Committee doesn't have

         10  oversight. But I will be sharing that information

         11  because actually there is a hybridization because we

         12  have so many young people now serving sentences in

         13  adult facilities that it is important that perhaps

         14  myself and Sarah Gonzales who is the chair of the

         15  Juvenile Justice Committee collaborate on this

         16  issue. I found it surprising that there was a

         17  discharge planning for young people and I understand

         18  that it's complicated. I think for every single

         19  individual that gets caught up in this is a

         20  complication or two that we're going to be dealing

         21  with or even more. But the bottom line to it is that

         22  we've got to be strong enough, brave enough, bold

         23  enough, intelligent enough to really deal with that.

         24  Is there something further that you just wanted to

         25  comment on that issue?
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          2                 MR. COPPERMAN: I would just tell you

          3  that Council Member Gonzales had a hearing on Friday

          4  about the Department of Juvenile Justice and their

          5  discharge planning and the role of community based

          6  organizations. In that and it was a very productive

          7  hearing in which the Commissioner testified and some

          8  of the staff from DJJ including a number of CBO's. I

          9  think that effort is going forward. And anything you

         10  can contribute. And yes, the issues are similar --

         11  I'm sorry, the issues are different. They are more

         12  about families. They are more about education and

         13  there are other issues. I appreciate your interest

         14  in getting involved in this and I would look forward

         15  to working with both you and Council Member

         16  Gonzales. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

         18  you all for giving your testimony this morning, this

         19  afternoon and look forward to further work with you.

         20  Thank you. We do have one more person here to

         21  testify today. He sort of fell off our radar for a

         22  hot second. But he's back. And that's Stanley

         23  Richards of the Fortune Society.

         24                 MR. RICHARDS: Good morning,

         25  Councilwoman Clarke. It's an absolute pleasure to
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          2  come before you today to one, acknowledge your great

          3  leadership and support on alternatives to

          4  incarceration and re- entry issues where people

          5  returning home from incarceration.

          6                 My name is Stanley Richards and I'm

          7  the Deputy Executive Director of the Fortune

          8  Society, a nonprofit organization dedicated to

          9  providing critical re- entry services to ex-

         10  prisoners and advocating for a more humane

         11  rehabilitative criminal justice system. I am also a

         12  former prisoner and a recovery substance abuser. I

         13  know we are talking about the resolutions today, but

         14  I want to raise the issue of short- term stayers and

         15  talk a little bit about how we can make a difference

         16  in the lives of people returning home who are

         17  frequent users of the system.

         18                 New York City and New York State are

         19  entering another rough budget year. Again, facing

         20  hard choices about cutting desperately needed

         21  services. It is time to look at the change in

         22  policies that have resulted in the City jail

         23  population where one in four prisoners serve three

         24  days or less at enormous financial and human cost.

         25                 The City's independent budget office
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          2  has released a report showing that when all expenses

          3  are taken into account, it cost almost $100,000 to

          4  lock up one prisoner for one year. Commissioner

          5  Horn, the City's forward thinking Correction

          6  Commissioner pointed out that most of the expenses

          7  due to fixed costs which would not be affected by a

          8  small drop in the jail population. However, he said,

          9  if the jail population were reduced by a 1,000, we'd

         10  save a million. The opportunity to save millions and

         11  to invest and build lives in communities lies in

         12  taking a close look at the short- term stayers in

         13  the City jail system and then making the changes as

         14  needed to avoid unnecessary and damaging

         15  incarceration.

         16                 Right now, approximately one in four

         17  City prisoners is admitted and released within three

         18  days accounting for 4,305 admissions and releases in

         19  January and February of 2003, alone. Approximately

         20  60 percent of these detainees who are released on a

         21  medium bail of $1,000; approximately 40 percent are

         22  serving very short City jail sentences.

         23                 The greatest financial cost of

         24  holding a prisoner is the cost of the first few days

         25  because of the high cost of processing. The human
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          2  cost of short- term incarceration has a cascading

          3  effects. It impacts brutalities on the families of

          4  prisoners. May result in a loss of employment for

          5  those who have jobs. May result in a loss of

          6  housing. And exposes the prisoner to both emotional

          7  and physical risk and injury. For people who are

          8  already vulnerable in that risk, it may be enough to

          9  pull them under.

         10                 A disproportional percentage of

         11  prisoners are very vulnerable. Struggling with

         12  issues including substance abuse, HIV infection and

         13  mental health issues. Some 18 percent of sentenced

         14  male prisoners are identified as having serious

         15  enough mental health issues to qualify them for

         16  mental health discharge planning under the Brad H

         17  settlement. A full half of all sentenced female

         18  prisoners are identified as having such mental

         19  health issues. Because short- term stayers move

         20  through the jail system so quickly that they are

         21  often not identified by Brad H clients, the

         22  percentages of seriously mentally ill prisoners are

         23  probably higher.

         24                 During the 1990's, there was a marked

         25  change in enforcement. It resulted in a search of
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          2  low- level quality of life arrests resulting in very

          3  short jail stays. According to a study by the New

          4  York City Criminal Justice Agency, the medium length

          5  of jail sentencing went from 20 days in 1989 to

          6  seven days in 1998. The jail population grew to

          7  include an increased over population that was

          8  increasingly characterized by problems such as

          9  homelessness, drug and alcohol addiction and mental

         10  illness. It also included a significant population

         11  of young persons of color without prior adult

         12  records who are arrested and incarcerated on low-

         13  level drug charges.

         14                 A recent examination of current

         15  short- term sentenced prisoners reveals some

         16  troubling information. Looking back over a period of

         17  two years, 23 percent had been admitted three or

         18  four times and our older population arguably

         19  characterized by high dysfunction and problems that

         20  are not addressed during the short stays of

         21  incarceration. They simply revolve through the jail

         22  system and in many cases, the shelter system as

         23  well.

         24                 A full 41 percent had not been

         25  admitted before. These individuals were
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          2  disproportionately younger and arrested on low-

          3  level offenses including possession of marijuana,

          4  misdemeanor drug offenses and theft of services,

          5  fare beaters. The majority of these individuals

          6  sentenced for the first time and receiving very

          7  short sentences of incarceration came from the Bronx

          8  and Manhattan. Disproportionately from two precincts

          9  and communities in the Bronx, Morris Heights and

         10  University Heights and from three precincts in

         11  Manhattan; Harlem, Midtown South and East Harlem.

         12                 The community breakdown for these

         13  younger first time offenders, first time is

         14  troubling. So short jail sentences is very much a

         15  matter of discretion. A case itself does not mandate

         16  harsh punishment. Midtown South precincts is

         17  somewhat a different picture and requires different

         18  analysis. However, residents and leaders of the four

         19  communities might fairly ask, why is it that their

         20  young people are singled out for the harsh and

         21  damaging punishments of a taste of jail with it's

         22  stigma and long- term damaging consequences.

         23                 As a City, we have a choice about how

         24  we spend our resources and address those judged as

         25  posing little risk. By implementing measures to
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          2  provide alternative means of posting or substituting

          3  for low bails and by avoiding the imposition of very

          4  low jail sentences for very minor offenses, we could

          5  significantly reduce the City jail population and

          6  avoid further damaging individuals already at risk

          7  and invest the money saved in building lives and

          8  communities. I want to thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you. Thank

         10  you very much for your testimony. We ask that we be

         11  able to get a copy of that. You brought up some

         12  really salient points here and I think that may also

         13  help to inform the process for discharge planning.

         14  As I stated to Commissioner Horn when he was here,

         15  we may have to look at interventions earlier in the

         16  stages leading towards what eventually becomes the

         17  short- term stayers life. Because it's very clear

         18  that at this stage and when you deal with quality of

         19  life crack downs and things of that nature,

         20  sometimes youthful in discretion becomes a life time

         21  of just cycling in and out of this situation. As you

         22  said, further endangering at risk individuals by

         23  putting them through this. I want to thank you.

         24  Very, very insight testimony.

         25                 MR. RICHARDS: Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: There are no

          3  further individuals for testimony today, I'd like to

          4  call this hearing adjourned.

          5                 (Written testimony read into the

          6  record.)

          7

          8

          9  Written Testimony Of:

             Elizabeth Gaynes

         10  Osborne Association

         11

         12                 My name is Elizabeth Gaynes, and I am

         13  the Executive Director of the Osborne Association,

         14  the oldest nonprofit organization in New York City

         15  devoted to providing direct services to men, women,

         16  and children affected by incarceration. We operate

         17  program sites in the Bronx, Queens, and Brooklyn, as

         18  well as Brooklyn and Bronx courts, Rikers Island and

         19  eight state prisons. Our services range from

         20  Assigned Counsel Services, funded by the Council to

         21  advocate for alternatives to incarceration for

         22  felony defendants represented by court- appointed

         23  counsel, to job placement for individuals leaving

         24  prison and jail. We provide discharge planning and

         25  case management for City and State prisoners before
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          2  and after release. We also offer a wide range of

          3  services to children and family members of people

          4  currently or formerly incarcerated.

          5                 The Osborne Association is submitting

          6  this testimony in support of the various resolutions

          7  under consideration to reduce barriers to successful

          8  re- entry. We have direct experience with each of

          9  the barriers that the proposed

         10  resolutions/amendments seek to address, and we

         11  believe that expanding access to employment, housing

         12  and healthcare (including treatment for addiction,

         13  mental illness, and infectious disease), as

         14  contemplated by these proposals, will have an

         15  immediate salutary impact on the success of people

         16  leaving prison and jail.

         17                 Advocates for improved re- entry

         18  policies and practices tend to focus on work,

         19  sobriety, and/or housing and we agree that these are

         20  critical issues facing people leaving prison.

         21  However, we would urge the Council to recognize that

         22  the threshold issue facing men and women in prison

         23  is maintaining family relationships. Strong family

         24  support has long been recognized as the cornerstone

         25  of post- release success. Due to the distance of
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          2  most prisons from New York City and the tremendous

          3  cost of phone calls and visiting, state prisoners

          4  often lose those relationships most likely to assure

          5  adequate housing and support, and most able to

          6  stabilize individuals as they attempt to find jobs

          7  and maintain their sobriety. Yet little, if

          8  anything, is done to enable families to open their

          9  homes and hearts to incarcerated family members.

         10                 Families are the re- entry program of

         11  first resort. There will never be enough housing or

         12  programs to address all the needs of prisoners who

         13  are unable to return home because their families

         14  cannot afford the cost, or cannot endure the stigma,

         15  of providing for their loved ones. For those in

         16  public housing, as Resolution 282 correctly

         17  recognizes, even those willing to offer support may

         18  be unable to do so. But the majority of families who

         19  might welcome home and support people leaving jail

         20  and prison do not live in public housing; and even

         21  if they do, their willingness to make room for

         22  returning prisoners is not solely related to NYCHA

         23  policy.

         24                 In fact, the major institutions that

         25  intersect with the lives of families affected by
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          2  incarceration are not providing encouragement or

          3  support. The impact of the failure to support

          4  families affected by incarceration is felt through

          5  systems far afield from criminal justice, including

          6  child welfare and education. There are literally

          7  hundreds of thousands of children in New York City

          8  who have experienced the arrest or incarceration of

          9  a parent, and there are no doubt more than 100,000

         10  minor children with parents currently on probation

         11  or parole in New York City. Children with parents

         12  who are or were incarcerated are often hesitant to

         13  share this information with the adults in their

         14  lives, whether in school or church. Their needs are

         15  often unmet.

         16                 We believe that it is important, as a

         17  matter of City policy, to encourage the families and

         18  friends of those leaving jail and prison to provide

         19  them with a home and supportive social networks.

         20  Like kinship foster care, we ought to consider

         21  offsetting the cost of this support during the

         22  initial post- release period. In addition to

         23  financial incentives to families, we ought to

         24  provide other forms of assistance including

         25  counseling and case management. Reaching out to
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          2  families during incarceration and offering ongoing

          3  family services, would increase the number of men

          4  and women who could be released to supportive

          5  families and resume their parenting role. Such an

          6  approach would save a significant amount of money in

          7  comparison to the cost of re- entry housing not to

          8  mention the cost of returning to jail or prison.

          9                 In the meantime, we applaud the

         10  Council's efforts to bring people home with dignity

         11  and respect, providing them with a real opportunity

         12  to enter our community.

         13                 (Written testimony read into the

         14  record)

         15  Written testimony

             Common Ground Community

         16

         17

         18                  "America is the land of the second

         19  chance- and when the gates of the prison open, the

         20  path ahead should lead to a better life." President

         21  George W. Bush, State of the Union, January 20,

         22  2004.

         23                 Approximately 350 inmates are

         24  released from New York City every day. It is

         25  estimated that 75 percent of those released from
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          2  Rikers Island return to jail within one year.

          3  Furthermore, while the City of New York's Department

          4  of Homeless Services does not count the number of

          5  ex- offenders in the shelter system, a recent data

          6  match with the Department of Correction showed a 30

          7  percent overlap between shelter clients and jail

          8  releases. Homelessness and recidivism among

          9  previously incarcerated people are widespread and

         10  exact a shocking human, social and financial cost.

         11                 Thus, resolutions to 1), ensure that

         12  people with convictions are not barred from a wide

         13  range of jobs; 2) permit former inmates to reunite

         14  with their families in Section 8 housing; 3)

         15  guarantee that incarcerated individuals are returned

         16  to Medicaid benefits upon release; and 4) provide

         17  inmates with assistance in applying for stated

         18  issued identification and government benefits, will

         19  profoundly improve the ability of ex- offenders to

         20  rejoin free society successfully and productively.

         21  Moreover, they will significantly reduce

         22  homelessness, recidivism, and the extreme financial

         23  burden on public dollars associated with both.

         24                 Nevertheless, CGC wants to stress

         25  that the resolutions at hand are incomplete.
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          2  Momentum is gathering at the national and local

          3  levels around the need for establishing more

          4  adequate, just and fiscally responsible discharge

          5  planning for people leaving jails and prisons. CGC

          6  has been involved in an extraordinary and unique

          7  collaborative effort between the Department of

          8  Homeless Services, the Department of Correction and

          9  nonprofit service providers to craft integrated and

         10  innovative discharge planning practices for the City

         11  jails. We look forward to capitalizing further on

         12  this positive momentum and spirit of collaboration

         13  by working with the City Council to enhance the

         14  resolutions at hand.

         15                 In New York during 2000, 60 percent

         16  of former prisoners were unemployed. Given the legal

         17  restrictions and stigmas attached to ex- offenders,

         18  however, this statistic is hardly surprising. Sixty-

         19  five percent of employers in major US cities said

         20  they would not knowingly hire an ex- offender

         21  regardless of his or her offense. Yet with very

         22  little hope of finding legal, living age work, ex-

         23  offenders are less likely to be able to meet the

         24  financial responsibilities of a home and may be more

         25  vulnerable to living on the streets and/or engaging
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          2  in illegal activities. In 1991, 32 percent of jail

          3  inmates released for at least one year were earning

          4  an annual income of under $5,000. According to one

          5  estimate, a ten percent decrease in an individual's

          6  wages is associated with a ten- 20 percent increase

          7  in his or her criminal activity and likelihood of

          8  incarceration.

          9                 An additional complication of post-

         10  prison employment is the lack of skill appropriate,

         11  living wage jobs in the neighborhoods to which ex-

         12  offenders return. Seventy- five percent of

         13  individuals released from New York State prisons

         14  return to only seven neighborhoods in New York City

         15  where unemployment levels are already steep. This

         16  supply and demand discrepancy becomes even more

         17  noticeable when considering that ex- offenders

         18  likely compete with persons leaving welfare for the

         19  few low- skill jobs that exist.

         20                 Laws that automatically bar

         21  previously incarcerated people from obtaining a wide

         22  range of jobs contribute to the cycle of crime,

         23  incarceration and homelessness that facilitate the

         24  demise disadvantaged urban neighborhoods. In

         25  contract, allowing ex- offenders to access jobs will
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          2  revitalize neighborhoods while saving individual

          3  livelihoods, entire families, and millions of local,

          4  State and Federal dollars.

          5                 Therefore, Common Ground Community

          6  urges the Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice

          7  Services to support Resolution number which calls

          8  upon the New York State legislature to ensure that

          9  people with convictions are not automatically barred

         10  from a wide range of jobs for which they may be

         11  qualified and through which they would not endanger

         12  the public.

         13                 Federal housing policies permit, but

         14  do not require the New York City Housing Authority

         15  (NYCHA) to deny housing to individuals who have

         16  engaged in certain criminal activities. CGC proposes

         17  that the City Council expand the language of this

         18  resolution so that it calls upon NYCHA to use less

         19  restrictive screening and admission policies in both

         20  Section 8 and publish housing, particularly when

         21  social services are being provided to the individual

         22  and/or to the reunifying family.

         23                 Ex- offenders who enter the shelter

         24  system are seven times more likely to violate parole

         25  than ex- offenders who go home to their families. A
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          2  supportive family member can provide the right

          3  amount of encouragement to ease an ex- offender's

          4  transition into the community and deter behavior or

          5  situations that could lead to rearrest or

          6  homelessness. This support is critical within the

          7  first three months after release, directly after the

          8  shock of re- entry, when the highest percent of

          9  rearrests occur.

         10                 The Vera Institute of Justice

         11  conducted a study in which they monitored a group of

         12  released prisoners for one month after release. They

         13  found that a supportive presence at the moment of

         14  re- entry was an indicator of success across the

         15  board, including a correlation with lower drug use,

         16  greater likelihood of securing employment and less

         17  criminal activity.

         18                 CGC feels strongly the NYCHA can and

         19  should allow its leaseholders and Section 8

         20  recipients to open their doors to previously

         21  incarcerated family members and that such a

         22  possibility should represent the norm rather than

         23  the exception CGC would welcome the opportunity to

         24  work with City Council members to strengthen the

         25  resolution that urges NYCHA to adapt more flexible
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          2  and humane screening policies.

          3                 The number of incarcerated

          4  individuals with special needs is greatly

          5  disproportionate to the overall special needs

          6  population in the U.S. Specifically, the prevalence

          7  of mental illnesses, drug and alcohol abuse, and

          8  diseases such as tuberculosis, HIV/AIDS, hepatitis B

          9  and hepatitis C is growing in prisons and jails.

         10  While prisoners sometimes have greater access to

         11  medical care than persons with similar socio-

         12  demographic characteristics who are not

         13  incarcerated. The prison experience can also

         14  exacerbate or create adverse physical or

         15  psychological conditions. Either way, treatment is

         16  especially necessary for these populations both

         17  during and after incarceration.

         18                 People who are mentally ill make up a

         19  significant portion of the population in

         20  correctional facilities. Approximately 300,000

         21  prison and jail inmates have a recognized mental

         22  illness, which is four times greater than the number

         23  of mentally ill persons in state psychiatric

         24  hospitals and two to four times higher than the

         25  number of people with a mental illness in the entire
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          2  U.S. Population.

          3                 Approximately 16 percent of all of

          4  released prisoners suffer from mental illness.

          5  Mentally ill inmates represent a population in need

          6  of specialized services and at risk of becoming

          7  homeless upon release from a correctional facility.

          8  Mentally ill inmates in State prisons were more than

          9  twice as likely as other inmates to have been

         10  homeless before their arrests. More than three-

         11  fourths of mentally ill inmates had previously been

         12  sentenced to jail or prison and one- half served

         13  three or more prior sentences. In Los Angeles, more

         14  than 70 percent of the severely mentally ill

         15  homeless have been arrested at least once.

         16                 Over one- third of all inmates

         17  nationally report having some physical or mental

         18  disability. Rikers Island in New York City annually

         19  admits between 120,000 and 130,000 people into

         20  custody of which roughly 25,000 (or 20 percent of

         21  total inmates) have a diagnosed mental illness.

         22  Jails and prisons house such a high number of

         23  mentally ill individuals today largely because of

         24  the massive emptying out and shutting down of mental

         25  hospitals that occurred during the 1970s.
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          2                 As a result of this era of

          3  deinstitutionalization, more people with mental

          4  illnesses than ever before became homeless and many

          5  ended up in prisons and jails for nuisance crimes.

          6  While hardly their designated purpose, prisons and

          7  jails have been forced to function as de facto

          8  mental health treatment centers.

          9                 Experts agree that a prison or jail

         10  sentence is an inappropriate response to housing or

         11  treating people who are mentally ill. Rarely will

         12  inmates with mental illnesses remain incarcerated

         13  long enough to have access to proper and effective

         14  psychiatric treatment even though they tend to serve

         15  longer sentences than other inmates. On Rikers

         16  Island, the average length of stay is 42 days;

         17  however, for people with mental illness, it is 215

         18  days. During incarceration, mentally ill inmates are

         19  seldom stabilized on the right medication, offered

         20  adequate therapy, or assisted with planning for care

         21  upon release.

         22                 The percentage of prison and jail

         23  inmates with a recognized disease is also

         24  disproportionately greater than the percentage in

         25  the larger U.S. Population. As of 1997, releases
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          2  from correctional facilities diagnosed with HIV/AIDS

          3  accounted for 20- 26 percent of all such cases in

          4  the U.S.; those with hepatitis B accounted for 12-

          5  16 percent of all cases in the U.S.; those with

          6  hepatitis C accounted for 29- 32 percent of all

          7  cases in the U.S.; and those with tuberculosis

          8  accounted for 38 percent of all cases in the U.S.

          9  Medical care and sufficient medication, among other

         10  things, are critical to ensuring the health and

         11  well- being of medically frail ex- offenders and of

         12  those with whom they come in contact upon release.

         13                 Lastly, abuse of drugs and alcohol is

         14  extremely prevalent among offenders. In jail and

         15  prison, a large proportion of current and former

         16  users, sellers, and dealers are concentrated in a

         17  single confined area. In fact, three out of every

         18  four inmates have a history of using drugs or

         19  alcohol, yet most will not receive formal treatment

         20  while in custody. Approximately three- quarters of

         21  this population are released from prisons annually.

         22                 Thus, Common Ground Community

         23  strongly supports Resolution Number 263A calling

         24  upon the New York State Office of Temporary and

         25  Disability Assistance and the New York City
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          2  Department of Social Services to abide by the

          3  federal law requiring that incarcerated individuals

          4  are returned to Medicaid rolls immediately upon

          5  release by suspending, rather than terminating the

          6  Medicaid benefits of people incarcerated in City

          7  jails.

          8                 The number of individuals released

          9  from prisons is 300 percent greater than it was

         10  twenty years ago. In order to prevent ex- offenders

         11  from recidivating and from further contributing to

         12  the overall homeless population, we must first

         13  understand why many re- enter communities with no

         14  housing or prospect of housing. Some of these

         15  reasons include:

         16                 Many are discharged without having

         17  received needed assistance from the most basic, such

         18  as attaining photo identification to the most

         19  specialized, including medical and mental health

         20  services.

         21                 Because the lengths of incarceration

         22  are longer than they were twenty years ago, persons

         23  exiting prisons have more difficulty readjusting to

         24  life outside a correction facility.

         25                 Many are unable to cope with the new
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          2  stresses and differences of life outside a

          3  correctional institution, which is often manifested

          4  in re- arrest.

          5                 Many are likely not to have

          6  participated in prison- based programs such as

          7  vocational training, education, or drug treatment,

          8  leaving them inadequately prepared to succeed on

          9  their own.

         10                 Seventy- five percent of ex-

         11  offenders return to only seven disadvantaged

         12  neighborhoods in New York where the prevalence of

         13  crime and lack of legal, living wage employment

         14  opportunities are disproportionately greater than in

         15  other areas.

         16                 CGC is heartened to see that Into.

         17  No. 310, to amend the administrative code of the

         18  City of New York regarding discharge planning for

         19  inmates has been drafted. Nevertheless, we urge the

         20  Council to work with the provider community to amend

         21  the Local Law so that it presents less arbitrary

         22  requirements for discharge planning. Specifically,

         23  CGC believes that requiring a discharge plan to be

         24  initiated "at least seven days prior to the release

         25  of any inmate sentenced to 30 days or more of
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          2  incarceration" is not necessarily an appropriate

          3  amount of time.

          4                 Common Ground and many other local

          5  service providers have been working enthusiastically

          6  with the Department of Corrections and the

          7  Department of Homeless Services to research, suggest

          8  and demonstrate more effective practices for

          9  preparing incarcerated individuals to leave jail and

         10  ensuring that they receive the myriad follow- up

         11  services such as supportive housing, substance abuse

         12  treatment, job training and legal advocacy essential

         13  to successful re- entry.

         14                 The collaborative effort has proved

         15  fruitful; it promises to bring about positive

         16  changes in the way discharge planning is carried

         17  out. Given the success and promise of the DHS- DOC-

         18  provider work, the re- entry service provider

         19  community encourages the City Council to invite us

         20  to the table to help enhance Into. No. 310 so that

         21  it reflects the complex needs of inmates as well as

         22  the experiences and research of the providers who

         23  serve them.

         24                 (Meeting adjourned at 12:22 p.m.)
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